

UNITEDHEALTHCARE® COMMUNITY PLAN: RADIOLOGY IMAGING COVERAGE DETERMINATION GUIDELINE

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only)

V1.0.2026

Guideline Number: CSRAD0170H.E

Effective Date: February 3, 2026

Application (for Ohio Only)

This Medical Policy only applies to the state of Ohio. Any requests for services that are stated as unproven or services for which there is a coverage or quantity limit will be evaluated for medical necessity using Ohio Administrative Code 5160-1-01.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E UnitedHealthcare Community Plan Coverage Determination Guideline

Effective: February 3, 2026

Page 1 of 99

Table of Contents

Guideline

Related Community Plan Policies

Application (For Ohio Only)

Guideline Development (Preface-1)

Benefits, Coverage Policies, and Eligibility Issues (Preface-2)

Clinical Information (Preface-3)

Coding Issues (Preface-4)

Whole-Body Imaging (Preface-5)

References (Preface-6)

General Guidelines (PEDCH-1)

Lymphadenopathy (PEDCH-2)

Mediastinal Mass (PEDCH-3)

Hemoptysis (PEDCH-4)

Cystic Fibrosis and Bronchiectasis (PEDCH-5)

Bronchiolitis (PEDCH-6)

Pneumonia (PEDCH-7)

Solitary Pulmonary Nodule (PEDCH-8)

Positive PPD or Tuberculosis (PEDCH-9)

Asthma (PEDCH-10)

Pectus Deformities (PEDCH-11)

Breast Masses (PEDCH-12)

Vascular Malformations (PEDCH-13)

Congenital Chest Diseases (PEDCH-14)

Policy History and Instructions for Use

V1.0.2026

Related Community Plan Policies

\sim			- 1		
Gι	111	a	Δ	ıır	۵
VJι		u	C		1

Related Community Plan Policies

Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 3 of 99

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

V1.0.2026

Related Community Plan Policies

Related Community Plan Policies

v1.0.2026

General Policies

· General Chest Imaging Guidelines

Pediatric Policies

- Pediatric and Special Populations Oncology Imaging Guidelines
- Pediatric Abdomen Imaging Guidelines

V1.0.2026

Application (For Ohio Only)

<i>,</i> ,,	uid	\sim	ın	\sim
. – 1	116	_		_
\sim	иіч			•

Application (For Ohio Only)

Page 5 of 99

V1.0.2026

Application (For Ohio Only)

Application for Ohio OH UHC

v1.0.2026

This Medical Policy only applies to the state of Ohio. Any requests for services that
are stated as unproven or services for which there is a coverage or quantity limit will
be evaluated for medical necessity using Ohio Administrative Code 5160-1-01.

V1.0.2026

Guideline Development (Preface-1)

\sim				
Gι	ЛC	lel	lın	ıe

Guideline Development (Preface-1.1)

Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 7 of 99

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

Guideline Development (Preface-1.1)

PRF.GG.0001.1.UOH

v1.0.2026

- These evidence-based, proprietary clinical guidelines evaluate a range of advanced imaging and procedures, including NM, US, CT, MRI, PET, Radiation Oncology, Sleep Studies, as well as Cardiac, musculoskeletal and Spine interventions.
- UnitedHealthcare reserves the right to change and update the guidelines. The
 guidelines undergo a formal review annually. These clinical guidelines are based
 on current evidence supported by major national and international association and
 society guidelines and criteria, peer-reviewed literature, major treatises as well as,
 input from health plans, and practicing academic and community-based physicians.
- These guidelines are not intended to supersede or replace sound medical judgment, but instead, should facilitate the identification of the most appropriate imaging or other designated procedure given the individual's clinical condition. These guidelines are written to cover medical conditions as experienced by the majority of individuals. However, these guidelines may not be applicable in certain clinical circumstances, and physician judgment can override the guidelines.
- These guidelines provide evidence-based, clinical benefits with a focus on health care quality and patient safety.
- Clinical decisions, including treatment decisions, are the responsibility of the individual and his/her provider. Clinicians are expected to use independent medical judgment, which takes into account the clinical circumstances to determine individual management decisions.

V1.0.2026

Benefits, Coverage Policies, and Eligibility Issues (Preface-2)

Guideline

Benefits, Coverage Policies, and Eligibility Issues (Preface-2.1) References (Preface-2)

Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 9 of 99

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

Benefits, Coverage Policies, and Eligibility Issues (Preface-2.1)

PRF.BC.0002.1.UOH

v1.0.2026

Investigational and Experimental Studies

- Certain studies, treatments, procedures, or devices may be considered experimental, investigational, or unproven for any condition, illness, disease, injury being treated if one of the following is present:
 - if there is a paucity of supporting evidence;
 - if the evidence has not matured to exhibit improved health parameters;
 - if clinical utility has not been demonstrated in any condition; OR
 - if the study, treatment, procedure, or device lacks a collective opinion of support
- Supporting evidence includes standards that are based on credible scientific evidence
 published in peer-reviewed medical literature (such as well conducted randomized
 clinical trials or cohort studies with a sample size of sufficient statistical power)
 generally recognized by the relevant medical community. Collective opinion of
 support includes physician specialty society recommendations and the views of
 physicians practicing in relevant clinical areas when physician specialty society
 recommendations are not available.

Clinical and Research Trials

- Similar to investigational and experimental studies, clinical trial imaging requests are reviewed to determine whether they meet these evidence-based clinical guidelines.
- Imaging studies which are inconsistent with established clinical standards, or are requested for data collection and not used in direct clinical management are not supported.

V1.0.2026

References (Preface-2)

v1.0.2026

1. Coverage of Clinical Trials under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act; 42 U.S.C.A. § 300gg-8

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD0170H.E

UnitedHealthcare Community Plan Coverage Determination Guideline Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 11 of 99

V1.0.2026

Clinical Information (Preface-3)

Guideline

Clinical Information (Preface-3.1) References (Preface-3)

Clinical Information (Preface-3.1)

PRF.CL.0003.1.UOH

v1.0.2026

Clinical Documentation and Age Considerations

- These clinical guidelines use an evidence-based approach to determine the most appropriate procedure for each individual, at the most appropriate time in the diagnostic and treatment cycle. These clinical guidelines are framed by:
 - clinical presentation of the individual, rather than the studies requested
 - adequate clinical information that must be submitted to UnitedHealthcare in order to establish medical necessity for advanced imaging or other designated procedures includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - Pertinent clinical evaluation since the onset or change in symptoms including a detailed history, physical examination, appropriate laboratory studies, and appropriate prior imaging studies.
 - Condition-specific guideline sections may describe additional clinical information which is required for a pertinent clinical evaluation.
 - The Spine and Musculoskeletal guidelines require x-ray studies from when the current episode of symptoms has started or changed.
 - Advanced imaging or other designated procedures should not be ordered prior to clinical evaluation of an individual by the physician treating the individual. This may include referral to a consultant specialist who will make further treatment decisions.
 - Other meaningful technological contact (telehealth visit, telephone or video call, electronic mail or messaging) since the onset or change in symptoms by an established individual can serve as a pertinent clinical evaluation.
 - Some conditions may require a face-to-face evaluation as discussed in the applicable condition-specific guideline sections.
 - A recent clinical evaluation may be unnecessary if the individual is undergoing a guideline-supported, scheduled follow-up imaging or other designated procedural evaluation. Exceptions due to routine surveillance indications are addressed in the applicable condition-specific guideline sections.
 - the evidence-based approach to determine the most appropriate procedure for each individual requires submission of medical records pertinent to the requested imaging or other designated procedures.
- Many conditions affecting the pediatric population are different diagnoses than those
 occurring in the adult population. For those diseases which occur in both pediatric
 and adult populations, minor differences may exist in management due to individual

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E

age, comorbidities, and differences in disease natural history between children and adults.

 Individuals who are 18 years old or younger should be imaged according to the Pediatric Imaging Guidelines if discussed in the condition-specific guideline sections. Any conditions not specifically discussed in the Pediatric Imaging Guidelines should be imaged according to the General Imaging Guidelines. Individuals who are >18 years old should be imaged according to the General Imaging Guidelines, except where directed otherwise by a specific guideline section.

General Imaging Information

- "Standard" or "conventional" imaging is most often performed in the initial and subsequent evaluations of malignancy. Standard or conventional imaging includes plain film, CT, MRI, or US.
 - · Often, further advanced imaging is needed when initial imaging, such as ultrasound, CT, or MRI does not answer the clinical question. Uncertain, indeterminate, inconclusive, or equivocal may describe these situations.
- Appropriate use of contrast is a very important component of evidence-based advanced imaging use.
 - The appropriate levels of contrast for an examination (i.e., without contrast, with contrast, without and with contrast) is determined by the evidence-based guidance reflected in the condition-specific guideline sections.
 - If, during the performance of a non-contrast imaging study, there is the unexpected need to use contrast in order to evaluate a possible abnormality, then that is appropriate.

Ultrasound

- Diagnostic ultrasound uses high-frequency sound waves to evaluate soft tissue structures and vascular structures utilizing grey scale and Doppler techniques.
- Ultrasound allows for dynamic real-time imaging at the bedside.
 - Ultrasound is limited in areas where there is dense bone or other calcification.
 - Ultrasound also has a relatively limited imaging window so may be of limited value in evaluating very large abnormalities.
 - In general, ultrasound is highly operator-dependent, and proper training and experience are required to perform consistent, high-quality evaluations.
- Indications for ultrasound may include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - Obstetric and gynecologic imaging
 - Soft tissue and visceral imaging of the chest, abdomen, pelvis, and extremities
 - Brain and spine imaging when not obscured by dense bony structures
 - Vascular imaging when not obscured by dense bony structures
 - Procedural guidance when not obscured by dense bony structures

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only):

CSRAD017OH.E Effective: February 3, 2026

- Initial evaluation of ill-defined soft tissue masses or fullness and differentiating adenopathy from mass or cyst. Prior to advanced imaging, ultrasound can be very beneficial in selecting the proper modality, body area, image sequences, and contrast level that will provide the most definitive information for the individual.
- More specific guidance for ultrasound usage, including exceptions to this general guidance, can be found throughout the condition-specific guidelines.

Computed Tomography (CT)

- The AMA CPT[®] manual does not describe nor assign any minimum or maximum number of sequences for any CT study. CT imaging protocols are often influenced by the individual's clinical situation and additional sequences are not uncommon. There are numerous CT protocols that may be performed to evaluate specific clinical questions, and this technology is constantly undergoing development.
- CT utilizes ionizing radiation to create cross-sectional and volumetric images of the body.
 - Advantages over ultrasound include a much larger field of view and faster completion time in general. Disadvantages compared to ultrasound include lack of portability and exposure to ionizing radiation.
 - Advantages over MRI include faster imaging and a more spacious scanner area limiting claustrophobia. Disadvantages compared to MRI include decreased soft tissue definition, especially with non-contrast imaging, and exposure to ionizing radiation.
- CT can be performed without, with, or without and with intravenous (IV) contrast depending on the clinical indication and body area.
 - In general, non-contrast imaging is appropriate for evaluating structures with significant tissue density differences such as lung parenchyma and bony structures, or when there is a contraindication to contrast.
 - In general, CT with contrast is the most common level of contrast and can be used when there is need for improved vascular or soft tissue resolution, including better characterization of known or suspected malignancy, as well as infectious and inflammatory conditions.
 - CT without and with contrast has a limited role as the risks of doubling the ionizing radiation exposure rarely outweigh the benefits of multiphasic imaging, though there are some exceptions which include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - Characterization of a mass
 - Characterization of arterial and venous anatomy
 - CT with contrast may be used to better characterize findings on a very recent (within two weeks) inconclusive non-contrast CT where the guidelines would support CT without and with contrast.
 - More specific guidance for CT contrast usage, including exceptions to this general guidance, can be found throughout the condition-specific guidelines.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only):

- Shellfish allergy:
 - It is commonly assumed that an allergy to shellfish indicates iodine allergy, and that this implies an allergy to iodinated contrast media used with CT. However, this is NOT true. Shellfish allergy is due to tropomyosins. Iodine plays no role in these allergic reactions. Allergies to shellfish do not increase the risk of reaction to iodinated contrast media any more than that of other allergens.
- Enteric contrast (oral or rectal) is sometimes used in abdominal imaging. There is no specific CPT[®] code which refers to enteric contrast.
- The appropriate contrast level and anatomic region in CT imaging is specific to the clinical indication, as listed in the condition-specific guideline sections.
- CT should not be used to replace MRI in an attempt to avoid sedation unless it is listed as a recommended study in the appropriate condition-specific guideline.
- There are significant potential adverse effects associated with the use of iodinated contrast media. These include hypersensitivity reactions, thyroid dysfunction, and contrast-induced nephropathy (CIN). Individuals with impaired renal function are at increased risk for CIN.
- Both contrast CT and MRI are considered to have the same risk profile with renal failure (GFR <30 mL/min).
- The use of CT contrast should proceed with caution in pregnant and breastfeeding individuals. There is a theoretical risk of contrast toxicity to the fetal and infant thyroid. The procedure can be performed if the specific need for that contrast-enhanced procedure outweighs risk to the fetus. Breastfeeding individuals may reduce this risk by choosing to pump and discard breast milk for 12-24 hours after the contrast injection.
- CT without contrast is medically necessary if clinical criteria for CT with contrast are met AND the individual has/is:
 - elevated blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and/or creatinine
 - renal insufficiency
 - allergies to iodinated contrast
 - thyroid disease which could be treated with I-131
 - diabetes
 - very elderly
 - urgent or emergent settings due to availability
 - trauma
- CT is superior to other imaging modalities in certain conditions including, but not limited to, the following:
 - Screening following trauma
 - Imaging pulmonary disease
 - Imaging abdominal and pelvic viscera
 - Imaging of complex fractures

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only):

- Evaluation of inconclusive findings on Ultrasound or MRI, or if there is a contraindication to MRI
- More specific guidance for CT usage, including exceptions to this general guidance, can be found throughout the condition-specific guidelines.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

- The AMA CPT[®] manual does not describe nor assign any minimum or maximum number of sequences for any MRI study. MRI protocols are often influenced by the individual's clinical situation and additional sequences are not uncommon. There are numerous MRI sequences that may be performed to evaluate specific clinical questions, and this technology is constantly undergoing development.
- Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) utilizes the interaction between the intrinsic radiofrequency of certain molecules in the body (hydrogen in most cases) and a strong external magnetic field.
 - MRI is often superior for advanced imaging of soft tissues and can also define physiological processes in some instances (e.g., edema, loss of circulation [AVN], and increased vascularity [tumors]).
 - MRI does not use ionizing radiation and even non-contrast images have much higher soft tissue definition than CT or Ultrasound.
 - MRI typically takes much longer than either CT or Ultrasound, and for some individuals may require sedation. It is also much more sensitive to individual motion that can degrade image quality than either CT or Ultrasound.
- MRI Breast and MRI Chest are not interchangeable, as they focus detailed sequences on different adjacent body parts.
- MRI may be utilized either as the primary advanced imaging modality, or when further definition is needed based on CT or ultrasound imaging.
- Most orthopedic and dental implants are not magnetic. These include hip and knee replacements; plates, screws, and rods used to treat fractures; and cavity fillings. Yet, all of these metal implants can distort the MRI image if near the part of the body being scanned.
 - Other implants, however, may have contraindications to MRI. These include the following:
 - Pacemakers
 - ICD or heart valves
 - Metal implants in the brain
 - Metal implants in the eyes or ears
 - Infusion catheters and bullets or shrapnel
 - CT can therefore be an alternative study to MRI in these scenarios.
- The contrast level and anatomic region in MRI imaging is specific to the clinical indication, as listed in the specific guideline sections.

- MRI utilizing Xenon Xe 129 (CPT® C9791) for contrast is considered investigational and experimental at this time. MRI with or with and without contrast in these guidelines refers to MRI utilizing gadolinium for contrast.
- MRI is commonly performed without, without and with contrast.
 - Non-contrast imaging offers excellent tissue definition.
 - Imaging without and with contrast is commonly used when needed to better characterize tissue perfusion and vascularization.
 - Most contrast is gadolinium based and causes T2 brightening of the vascular and extracellular spaces.
 - Some specialized gadolinium and non-gadolinium contrast agents are available, and most commonly used for characterizing liver lesions.
 - MRI with contrast only is rarely appropriate and is usually used to better characterize findings on a recent inconclusive non-contrast MRI, commonly called a completion study.
 - MRI contrast is relatively contraindicated in pregnant individuals.
 - More specific guidance for MRI contrast usage, including exceptions to this general guidance, can be found throughout the condition-specific guidelines.
- MRI may be preferred in individuals with renal failure and in individuals allergic to intravenous CT contrast.
 - Both contrast CT and MRI are considered to have the same risk profile with renal failure (GFR <30 mL/min).
 - Gadolinium can cause Nephrogenic Systemic Fibrosis (NSF). The greater the exposure to gadolinium in individuals with a low GFR (especially if on dialysis), the greater the chance of individuals developing NSF.
 - Multiple studies have demonstrated potential for gadolinium deposition following the use of gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCAs) for MRI studies. The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has noted that there is currently no evidence to suggest that gadolinium retention in the brain is harmful and restricting gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCAs) use is not warranted at this time. It has been recommended that GBCA use should be limited to circumstances in which additional information provided by the contrast agent is necessary and the necessity of repetitive MRIs with GBCAs should be assessed.
- A CT is medically necessary in place of an MRI when clinical criteria are met for MRI AND there is a contraindication to having an MRI (pacemaker, ICD, insulin pump, neurostimulator, etc.).
 - When replacing MRI with CT, contrast level matching should occur as follows:
 - MRI without contrast → CT without contrast
 - MRI without and with contrast → CT with contrast or CT without and with contrast
- The following situations may impact the appropriateness for MRI and/or MR contrast:

- Caution should be taken in the use of gadolinium in individuals with renal failure.
- The use of gadolinium contrast agents is relatively contraindicated during pregnancy unless the specific need for that procedure outweighs risk to the fetus.
- MRI can be performed for non-ferromagnetic body metals (i.e., titanium), although some imaging facilities will consider it contraindicated if recent surgery, regardless of the metal type.
- MRI should not be used as a replacement for CT for the sole reason of avoidance of ionizing radiation when MRI is not supported in the condition-based guidelines, since it does not solve the problem of overutilization.
- MRI is superior to other imaging modalities in certain conditions including, but not limited to, the following:
 - Imaging the brain and spinal cord
 - Characterizing visceral and musculoskeletal soft tissue masses
 - Evaluating musculoskeletal soft tissues including ligaments and tendons
 - Evaluating inconclusive findings on ultrasound or CT
 - Individuals who are pregnant or have high radiation sensitivity
 - Suspicion, diagnosis, or surveillance of infections
- More specific guidance for MRI usage, including exceptions to this general guidance, can be found throughout the condition-specific guidelines.

Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

- PET is a nuclear medicine study that uses a positron emitting radiotracer to create cross-sectional and volumetric images based on tissue metabolism.
- Conventional imaging (frequently CT, sometimes MRI or bone scan) of the affected area(s) drives much of initial and restaging and surveillance imaging for malignancy and other chronic conditions. PET is not medically necessary for surveillance imaging unless specifically stated in the condition-specific guideline sections.
- PET/MRI is generally not supported, see PET-MRI (Preface-5.3).
- PET is rarely performed as a single modality, but is typically performed as a combined PET/CT.
 - The unbundling of PET/CT into separate PET and diagnostic CT CPT[®] codes is not supported, because PET/CT is done as a single study.
- PET/CT lacks the tissue definition of CT or MRI, but is fairly specific for metabolic activity based on the radiotracer used.
- Indications for PET/CT may include the following:
 - Oncologic Imaging for evaluation of tumor metabolic activity
 - Cardiac Imaging for evaluation of myocardial metabolic activity
 - Brain Imaging for evaluation of metabolic activity for procedural planning
- More specific guidance for PET usage, including exceptions to this general guidance, can be found throughout the condition-specific guidelines.

Overutilization of Advanced Imaging

- A number of reports describe overutilization in many areas of advanced imaging and other procedures, which may include the following:
 - High-level testing without consideration of less invasive, lower cost options which may adequately address the clinical question at hand
 - Excessive radiation and costs with unnecessary testing
 - Defensive medical practice
 - CT without and with contrast (so called "double contrast studies") requests, which have few current indications
 - MRI requested in place of CT to avoid radiation without considering the primary indication for imaging
 - Adult CT settings and protocols used for smaller people and children
 - Unnecessary imaging procedures when the same or similar studies have already been conducted
- A review of the imaging or other relevant procedural histories of all individuals
 presenting for studies has been recognized as one of the more important processes
 that can be significantly improved. By recognizing that a duplicate or questionably
 medically necessary imaging study has been ordered for individuals, it may be
 possible to avoid exposing them to unnecessary risks. To avoid these unnecessary
 risks, the precautions below should be considered:
 - The results of initial diagnostic tests or radiologic studies to narrow the differential diagnosis should be obtained prior to performing further tests or radiologic studies.
 - The clinical history should include a potential indication such as a known or suspected abnormality involving the body part for which the imaging study is being requested. These potential indications are addressed in greater detail within the applicable guidelines.
 - The results of the requested imaging procedures should be expected to have an impact on individual management or treatment decisions.
 - Repeat imaging studies are not generally necessary unless there is evidence of disease progression, recurrence of disease, and/or the repeat imaging will affect an individual's clinical management.
- Pre-operative imaging/pre-surgical planning imaging/pre-procedure imaging is not medically necessary if the surgery/procedure is not medically necessary. Once the procedure has been approved or if the procedure does not require prior authorization, the appropriate pre-procedural imaging may be approved.

Health Equity Considerations

Health equity is the highest level of health for all individuals; health inequity is the avoidable difference in health status or distribution of health resources due to the social

V1.0.2026

conditions in which individuals are born, grow, live, work, and age. Social determinants of health are the conditions in the environment that affect a wide range of health, functioning, and quality of life outcomes and risks. Examples include the following: safe housing, transportation, and neighborhoods; racism, discrimination, and violence; education, job opportunities, and income; access to nutritious foods and physical activity opportunities; access to clean air and water; and language and literacy skills.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E

UnitedHealthcare Community Plan Coverage Determination Guideline

Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 21 of 99

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

References (Preface-3)

v1.0.2026

- Bettmann MA. Frequently Asked Questions: Iodinated Contrast Agents. RadioGraphics. 2004;24(suppl_1):S3-S10. doi:10.1148/rg.24si045519
- 2. Andreucci M, Solomon R, Tasanarong A. Side Effects of Radiographic Contrast Media: Pathogenesis, Risk Factors, and Prevention. *BioMed Res Int.* 2014;2014:1-20. doi:10.1155/2014/741018
- McDonald RJ, McDonald JS, Kallmes DF, et al. Intracranial Gadolinium Deposition after Contrast-enhanced MR Imaging. Radiology. 2015;275(3):772-782. doi:10.1148/radiol.15150025
- 4. Kanda T, Ishii K, Kawaguchi H, Kitajima K, Takenaka D. High Signal Intensity in the Dentate Nucleus and Globus Pallidus on Unenhanced T1-weighted MR Images: Relationship with Increasing Cumulative Dose of a Gadolinium-based Contrast Material. *Radiology*. 2014;270(3):834-841. doi:10.1148/radiol.13131669
- Olchowy C, Cebulski K, Łasecki M, et al. The presence of the gadolinium-based contrast agent depositions in the brain and symptoms of gadolinium neurotoxicity - A systematic review. Mohapatra S, ed. *PLOS ONE*. 2017;12(2):e0171704. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0171704
- 6. Ramalho J, Castillo M, AlObaidy M, et al. High Signal Intensity in Globus Pallidus and Dentate Nucleus on Unenhanced T1-weighted MR Images: Evaluation of Two Linear Gadolinium-based Contrast Agents. *Radiology*. 2015;276(3):836-844. doi:10.1148/radiol.2015150872
- Radbruch A, Weberling LD, Kieslich PJ, et al. Intraindividual Analysis of Signal Intensity Changes in the Dentate Nucleus After Consecutive Serial Applications of Linear and Macrocyclic Gadolinium-Based Contrast Agents. *Invest Radiol.* 2016;51(11):683-690. doi:10.1097/rli.0000000000000308
- 8. FDA Warns That Gadolinium-Based Contrast Agents (GBCAs) Are Retained in the Body; Requires New Class Warnings. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. May 16, 2018. https://www.fda.gov/media/109825/download
- 9. Amis ES, Butler PF, Applegate KE, et al. American College of Radiology White Paper on Radiation Dose in Medicine. *J Am Coll Radiol*. 2007;4(5):272-284. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2007.03.002
- 10. Powell AC, Long JW, Kren EM, Gupta AK, Levin DC. Evaluation of a Program for Improving Advanced Imaging Interpretation. *J Patient Saf.* 2019;15(1):69-75. doi:10.1097/PTS.0000000000034.5
- 11. White Paper: Initiative to Reduce Unnecessary Radiation Exposure from Medical Imaging. U.S. Food and Drug Administration and Center for Devices and Radiological Health. February 2010. https://www.fda.gov/Radiation-EmittingProducts/RadiationSafety/RadiationDoseReduction/ucm199994.htm
- Fotenos A. Update on FDA approach to safety issue of gadolinium retention after administration of gadoliniumbased contrast agents. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. September 20, 2018. https://www.fda.gov/ media/116492/download
- 13. Blumfield E, Swenson DW, Iyer RS, Stanescu AL. Gadolinium-based contrast agents review of recent literature on magnetic resonance imaging signal intensity changes and tissue deposits, with emphasis on pediatric patients. *Pediatr Radiol*. 2019;49(4):448-457. doi:10.1007/s00247-018-4304-8
- American College of Radiology. ACR SPR SRU Practice Parameter for the Performance and Interpretation of Diagnostic Ultrasound Examinations. Revised 2023. (Resolution 32). https://gravitas.acr.org/PPTS/ DownloadPreviewDocument?DocId=24
- American College of Radiology. ACR ACNM SNMMI SPR Practice Parameter for Performing FDG-PET/CT in Oncology. Amended 2023. (Resolution 2c, 2d). https://gravitas.acr.org/PPTS/ DownloadPreviewDocument?DocId=173
- American College of Radiology. ACR Practice Parameter for Performing and Interpreting Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). Amended 2023. (Resolution 2c). https://gravitas.acr.org/PPTS/DownloadPreviewDocument? DocId=146
- 17. American College of Radiology. ACR SPR Practice Parameter for Performing and Interpreting Diagnostic Computed Tomography (CT). Amended 2023. (Resolution 2c, 2d). https://gravitas.acr.org/PPTS/DownloadPreviewDocument?DocId=132
- 18. Lohrke J, Frenzel T, Endrikat J, et al. 25 Years of Contrast-Enhanced MRI: Developments, Current Challenges and Future Perspectives. *Adv Ther*. 2016;33(1):1-28. doi:10.1007/s12325-015-0275-4

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E

V1.0.2026

- 19. Implementation Guide: Medicaid State Plan Eligibility Eligibility Groups Mandatory Coverage Infants and Children under Age 19. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. https://www.medicaid.gov/resources-for-states/downloads/macpro-ig-infants-and-children-under-age19.pdf
- History and Physicals Understanding the Requirements: What are the key elements organizations need to understand regarding History and Physical Requirements?. The Joint Commission. Reviewed July 12, 2022. https://www.jointcommission.org/standards/standard-faqs/hospital-and-hospital-clinics/provision-of-caretreatment-and-services-pc/000002272/
- 21. Mammarappallil JG, Rankine L, Wild JM, Driehuys B. New Developments in Imaging Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis With Hyperpolarized Xenon Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *J Thorac Imaging*. 2019;34(2):136-150. doi:10.1097/rti.0000000000000392
- 22. Wang JM, Robertson SH, Wang Z, et al. Using hyperpolarized 129Xe MRI to quantify regional gas transfer in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Thorax*. 2017;73(1):21-28. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-210070
- 23. Committee Opinion No. 723: Guidelines for Diagnostic Imaging During Pregnancy and Lactation [published correction appears in Obstet Gynecol. 2018 Sep;132(3):786. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0000000000000002858.]. Obstet Gynecol. 2017;130(4):e210-e216. doi:10.1097/AOG.0000000000002355

Coding Issues (Preface-4)

Guideline

3D Rendering (Preface-4.1)

CT-, MR-, or Ultrasound-Guided Procedures (Preface-4.2)

Unlisted Procedures/Therapy Treatment Planning (Preface-4.3)

CPT® 76380 Limited or Follow-up CT (Preface-4.5)

SPECT/CT Imaging (Preface-4.6)

CPT® 76140 Interpretation of an Outside Study (Preface-4.7)

Quantitative MR Analysis (Preface-4.8)

HCPCS Codes (Preface-4.9)

References (Preface-4)

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 24 of 99 Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

3D Rendering (Preface-4.1)

PRF.CD.0004.1.UOH

v1.0.2026

CPT[®] 76376 and CPT[®] 76377

- Both codes require concurrent supervision of the image post-processing 3D manipulation of the volumetric data set and image rendering.
 - Concurrent supervision is defined as active physician participation in and monitoring of the reconstruction process including design of the anatomic region that is to be reconstructed; determination of the tissue types and actual structures to be displayed (e.g., bone, organs, and vessels); determination of the images or cine loops that are to be archived; and, monitoring and adjustment of the 3D work product. The American College of Radiology (ACR) recommends that it is best to document the physician's supervision or participation in the 3D reconstruction of images.
- These two codes differ in the need for and use of an independent workstation for post-processing.
 - CPT[®] 76376 reports procedures not requiring image post-processing on an independent workstation.
 - CPT® 76377 reports procedures that require image post-processing on an independent workstation.
- These 3D rendering codes should not be used for 2D reformatting.
- Two-dimensional reconstruction (e.g., reformatting an axial scan into the coronal plane) is now included in all cross-sectional imaging base codes and is not separately reimbursable.
- The codes used to report 3D rendering for ultrasound and echocardiography are also used to report the 3D post processing work on CT, MRI, and other tomographic modalities.
- Providers may be required to obtain prior authorization on these 3D codes even if prior authorization is not required for the echocardiography and/or ultrasound procedure codes. It may appear that UnitedHealthcare pre-authorizes echocardiography and/or ultrasound when, in fact, it may only be the 3D code that needs the prior authorization.
- CPT[®] codes for 3D rendering should not be billed in conjunction with computer-aided detection (CAD), MRA, CTA, nuclear medicine SPECT studies, PET, PET/CT, stereotactic localization (CPT[®] 77011 or CPT[®] 70486 if used), Mammogram, MRI Breast, US Breast, CT Colonography (virtual colonoscopy), Cardiac MRI, Cardiac CT, or Coronary CTA studies.

- CPT[®] 76377 (3D rendering requiring image post-processing on an independent workstation) or CPT[®] 76376 (3D rendering not requiring image post-processing on an independent workstation) can be considered in the following clinical scenarios:
 - Bony conditions:
 - Evaluation of congenital skull abnormalities in newborns, infants, and toddlers (usually for pre-operative planning)
 - Complex fractures (comminuted or displaced)/dislocations of any joint (for preoperative planning when conventional imaging is insufficient)
 - Spine fractures, pelvic/acetabulum fractures, intra-articular fractures (for preoperative planning when conventional imaging is insufficient)
 - Pre-operative planning for other complex surgical cases
 - Complex facial fractures
 - Pre-operative planning for other complex surgical cases
 - Cerebral angiography
 - Pelvis conditions:
 - Uterine intra-cavitary lesion when initial US is equivocal: See <u>Abnormal Uterine</u> <u>Bleeding (AUB) (PV-2.1)</u> and <u>Leiomyoma/Uterine Fibroids (PV-12.1)</u> in the Pelvis Imaging Guidelines.
 - Hydrosalpinxes or peritoneal cysts when initial US is indeterminate: See
 Complex Adnexal Masses (PV-5.3) in the Pelvis Imaging Guidelines.
 - Lost IUD (inability to feel or see IUD string) with initial US: See <u>Intrauterine</u>
 Device (PV-10.1) in the Pelvis Imaging Guidelines.
 - Uterine anomalies with initial US: See <u>Uterine Anomalies (PV-14.1)</u> in the Pelvis Imaging Guidelines.
 - Infertility: See <u>Initial Infertility Evaluation</u>, <u>Female (PV-9.1)</u> in the Pelvis Imaging Guidelines.
 - Abdomen conditions:
 - CT Urogram: See <u>Hematuria and Hydronephrosis (AB-39)</u> in the Abdomen Imaging Guidelines.
 - MRCP: See <u>MR Cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) (AB-27)</u> in the Abdomen Imaging Guidelines.

CT-, MR-, or Ultrasound-Guided Procedures (Preface-4.2)

PRF.CD.0004.2.A

v1.0.2026

- CT-, MR-, and Ultrasound-guidance procedure codes contain all of the imaging necessary to guide a needle or catheter. It is inappropriate to routinely bill a diagnostic procedure code in conjunction with a guidance procedure code.
- Imaging studies performed as part of a CT-, MR-, or Ultrasound-guided procedure should be reported using the CPT[®] codes in the following table:

TABLE: Imaging Guidance Procedure Codes

CPT®	Description
19085	Biopsy, breast, with placement of breast localization device(s), when performed, and imaging of the biopsy specimen, when performed, percutaneous; first lesion, including MR guidance
19086	Biopsy, breast, with placement of breast localization device(s), when performed, and imaging of the biopsy specimen, when performed, percutaneous; each additional lesion, including MR guidance
75989	Imaging guidance for percutaneous drainage with placement of catheter (all modalities)
76942	Ultrasonic guidance for needle placement
77011	CT guidance for stereotactic localization
77012	CT guidance for needle placement
77013	CT guidance for, and monitoring of parenchymal tissue ablation
77021	MR guidance for needle placement
77022	MR guidance for, and monitoring of parenchymal tissue ablation

CPT[®] 19085 and CPT[®] 19086

- The proper way to bill an MRI-guided breast biopsy is CPT[®] 19085 (Biopsy, breast, with placement of breast localization device(s), when performed, and imaging of the biopsy specimen, when performed, percutaneous; first lesion, including MR guidance). Additional lesions should be billed using CPT[®] 19086.
 - CPT[®] 77021 (MR guidance for needle placement) is not an appropriate code for a breast biopsy.

CPT[®] 75989

- This code is used to report imaging guidance for a percutaneous drainage procedure in which a catheter is left in place.
- This code can be used to report whether the drainage catheter is placed under fluoroscopy, Ultrasound-, CT-, or MR-guidance modality.

CPT[®] 77011

- A stereotactic CT localization scan is frequently obtained prior to sinus surgery. The
 dataset is then loaded into the navigational workstation in the operating room for use
 during the surgical procedure. The information provides exact positioning of surgical
 instruments with regard to the individual's 3D CT images.
- In most cases, the pre-operative CT is a technical-only service that does not require interpretation by a radiologist.
 - The imaging facility should report CPT® 77011 when performing a scan not requiring interpretation by a radiologist.
 - If a diagnostic scan is performed and interpreted by a radiologist, the appropriate diagnostic CT code (e.g., CPT[®] 70486) should be used.
 - It is not appropriate to report both CPT[®] 70486 and CPT[®] 77011 for the same CT stereotactic localization imaging session.
 - 3D Rendering (CPT[®] 76376 or CPT[®] 76377) should not be reported in conjunction with CPT[®] 77011 (or CPT[®] 70486 if used). The procedure inherently generates a 3D dataset.

CPT[®] 77012 (CT) and CPT[®] 77021 (MR)

- These codes are used to report imaging guidance for needle placement during biopsy, aspiration, and other percutaneous procedures.
- They represent the radiological supervision and interpretation of the procedure and are often billed in conjunction with surgical procedure codes.
 - For example, CPT[®] 77012 is reported when CT guidance is used to place the needle for a conventional arthrogram.
 - Only codes representing percutaneous surgical procedures should be billed with CPT[®] 77012 and CPT[®] 77021. It is inappropriate to use with surgical codes for open, excisional, or incisional procedures.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only):

- CPT[®] 77021 (MR guidance for needle placement) is not an appropriate code for breast biopsy.
 - CPT[®] 19085 would be appropriate for the first breast biopsy site and CPT[®] 19086 would be appropriate for additional concurrent biopsies.

CPT[®] 77013 (CT) and CPT[®] 77022 (MR)

- These codes include the initial guidance to direct a needle electrode to the tumor(s), monitoring for needle electrode repositioning within the lesion, and as necessary for multiple ablations to coagulate the lesion and confirmation of satisfactory coagulative necrosis of the lesion(s) and comparison to pre-ablation images.
 - **NOTE:** CPT[®] 77013 should only be used for non-bone ablation procedures.
 - CPT[®] 20982 includes CT guidance for bone tumor ablations.
 - Only codes representing percutaneous surgical procedures should be billed with CPT[®] 77013 and CPT[®] 77022. It is inappropriate to use with surgical codes for open, excisional, or incisional procedures.
- CPT[®] 77012 and CPT[®] 77021 (as well as guidance codes CPT[®] 76942 [US], and CPT[®] 77002 CPT[®] 77003 [fluoroscopy]) describe radiologic guidance by different modalities.
 - Only one unit of any of these codes should be reported per individual encounter (date of service). The unit of service is considered to be the individual encounter, not the number of lesions, aspirations, biopsies, injections, or localizations.

Unlisted Procedures/Therapy Treatment Planning (Preface-4.3)

PRF.CD.0004.3.UOH

v1.0.2026

Unlisted Procedures

CPT ®	Description
76497	Unlisted CT procedure (e.g., diagnostic or interventional)
76498	Unlisted MR procedure (e.g., diagnostic or interventional)
78999	Unlisted procedure, diagnostic nuclear medicine

- For general information related to unlisted procedures, please refer to <u>Management</u> of Unlisted Codes.
- These unlisted codes should be reported whenever a diagnostic or interventional CT or MR study is performed in which an appropriate anatomic site-specific code is not available.
 - A Category III code that describes the procedure performed must be reported rather than an unlisted code if one is available.
- CPT[®] 76497 or CPT[®] 76498 (Unlisted CT or MRI procedure) is medically necessary in the following clinical scenarios:
 - Studies done for navigation and planning for neurosurgical procedures (i.e., Stealth or Brain Lab Imaging)
 - Custom joint arthroplasty planning (not as an alternative recommendation): See
 Osteoarthritis (MS-12.1) in the Musculoskeletal Imaging Guidelines.
 - Any procedure/surgical planning if thinner cuts or different positional acquisition (than those on the completed diagnostic study) are needed. These could include navigational bronchoscopy: See <u>Navigational Bronchoscopy and Biopsy</u> (<u>CH-1.7</u>) in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.

Therapy Treatment Planning

 Radiation Therapy Treatment Planning: See <u>Unlisted Procedure Codes in</u> <u>Oncology (ONC-1.5)</u> in the Oncology Imaging Guidelines.

CPT® 76380 Limited or Follow-up CT (Preface-4.5)

PRF.CD.0004.5.UOH

v1.0.2026

- CPT[®] 76380 describes a limited or follow-up CT scan. The code is used to report any CT scan, for any given area of the body, in which the work of a full diagnostic code is not performed.
- Common examples include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - Limited sinus CT imaging protocol
 - Limited or follow-up slices through a known pulmonary nodule
 - Limited slices to assess a non-healing fracture (such as the clavicle)
- Limited CT (CPT[®] 76380) is not medically necessary for treatment planning purposes. See <u>Unlisted Procedure Codes in Oncology (ONC-1.5)</u> in the Oncology Imaging Guidelines.
- It is inappropriate to report CPT[®] 76380, in conjunction with other diagnostic CT codes, to cover 'extra slices' in certain imaging protocols.
 - There is no specific number of sequences or slices defined in any CT CPT[®] code definition.
 - The AMA, in CPT^{\otimes} 2019, does not describe nor assign any minimum or maximum number of sequences or slices for any CT study.
 - A few additional slices or sequences are not uncommon.
 - CT imaging protocols are often influenced by the individual's clinical situation. Sometimes the protocols require more time and sometimes less.

V1.0.2026

SPECT/CT Imaging (Preface-4.6)

PRF.CD.0004.6.A

v1.0.2026

- SPECT/CT involves SPECT (Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography) nuclear medicine imaging and CT for optimizing location, accuracy, and attenuation correction and combines functional and anatomic information.
 - Common studies using this modality include ¹²³I- or ¹³¹I-Metaiodobenzylguanidine</sup> (MIBG) and octreotide scintigraphy for neuroendocrine tumors.
- Hybrid Nuclear/CT scan can be reported as CPT[®] 78830 (single area and single day), CPT[®] 78831 (2 or more days), or CPT[®] 78832 (2 areas with one day and 2-day
- CPT® 78072 became effective January 1, 2013 for SPECT/CT parathyroid nuclear imaging.

V1.0.2026

CPT® 76140 Interpretation of an Outside Study (Preface-4.7)

PRF.CD.0004.7.UOH

v1.0.2026

- It is inappropriate to use diagnostic imaging codes for interpretation of a previously performed exam that was completed at another facility.
 - If the outside exam is being used for comparison with a current exam, the diagnostic code for the current examination includes comparison to the prior study.
 - CPT® 76140 is the appropriate code to use for an exam which was completed elsewhere and a secondary interpretation of the images is requested.

V1.0.2026

Quantitative MR Analysis (Preface-4.8)

PRF.CD.0004.8.A

v1.0.2026

- Category III CPT[®] codes for quantitative analysis of multiparametric-MR (mp-MRI) data with and without an associated diagnostic MRI have been established.
 Quantitative mp-MRI uses software to analyze tissue physiology of visceral organs and other anatomic structures non-invasively.
- For criteria associated with these types of studies, please see the condition-specific guidelines.

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

HCPCS Codes (Preface-4.9)

PRF.CD.0004.9.UOH

v1.0.2026

- Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS) codes are utilized by some hospitals in favor of the typical Level-III CPT® codes. These codes are typically 4 digits preceded by a C or S.
 - Many of these codes have similar code descriptions to Level-III CPT® codes (i.e., C8931 – MRA with dye, Spinal Canal; and, CPT® 72159 – MRA Spinal Canal).
 - If cases are submitted with HCPCS codes with similar code descriptions to the typical Level-III CPT[®] codes, those procedures should be managed in the same manner as the typical CPT[®] codes.
 - HCPCS code management is discussed further in the applicable guideline sections.
- Requests for many Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS) codes, including non-specific codes such as S8042 (Magnetic resonance imaging [MRI], lowfield), should be redirected to a more appropriate and specific CPT® code. Exceptions are noted in the applicable guideline sections.

V1.0.2026

References (Preface-4)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Intraoperative MR. Brainlab. https://www.brainlab.com/surgery-products/overview-neurosurgery-products/intraoperative-mr/
- 2. Citardi MJ, Agbetoba A, Bigcas JL, Luong A. Augmented reality for endoscopic sinus surgery with surgical navigation: a cadaver study. *Int Forum Allergy Rhinol*. 2016;6(5):523-528. doi:10.1002/alr.21702
- 3. Chung CY, Alson MD, Duszak R, Degnan AJ. From imaging to reimbursement: what the pediatric radiologist needs to know about health care payers, documentation, coding and billing. *Pediatr Radiol*. 2018;48(7):904-914. doi:10.1007/s00247-018-4104-1
- 4. Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS). Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. www.cms.gov/medicare/coding/medhcpcsgeninfo.

V1.0.2026

Whole-Body Imaging (Preface-5)

Guideline

Whole-Body CT Imaging (Preface-5.1) Whole-Body MR Imaging (Preface-5.2) PET/MRI (Preface-5.3) References (Preface-5)

Whole-Body CT Imaging (Preface-5.1)

PRF.WB.0005.1.UOH

v1.0.2026

- Whole-body CT or LifeScan (CT Brain, Chest, Abdomen, and Pelvis) for screening of asymptomatic individuals is not a covered benefit. The performance of whole-body screening CT examinations in healthy individuals does not meet any of the current validity criteria for screening studies and there is no clear documentation of benefit versus radiation risk.
- Whole-body low-dose skeletal CT is supported for oncologic staging in Multiple Myeloma. See Multiple Myeloma and Plasmacytomas (ONC-25) in the Oncology Imaging Guidelines.

Whole-Body MR Imaging (Preface-5.2)

PRF.WB.0005.2.A

v1.0.2026

- Whole-body MRI (WBMRI) is, with the exception of select cancer predisposition syndromes and autoimmune conditions discussed below, generally not supported at this time due to lack of standardization in imaging technique and lack of evidence that WBMRI improves outcome for any individual disease state.
 - While WBMRI has the benefit of whole-body imaging and lack of radiation exposure, substantial variation still exists in the number of images, type of sequences (STIR vs. diffusion weighting, for example), and contrast agent(s) used.
- Coding considerations:
 - There are no established CPT® or HCPCS codes for reporting WBMRI.
 - WBMRI is at present only reportable using CPT[®] 76498. All other methods of reporting whole-body MRI are inappropriate including the following:
 - Separate diagnostic MRI codes for multiple individual body parts
 - MRI Bone Marrow Supply (CPT[®] 77084)
- · Disease-specific considerations:
 - Cancer screening:
 - Interval WBMRI is recommended for cancer screening in individuals with select cancer predisposition syndromes. Otherwise, WBMRI has not been shown to improve outcomes for cancer screening.
 - For additional information, see <u>Li-Fraumeni Syndrome (LFS)</u> (PEDONC-2.2), <u>Neurofibromatosis 1 and 2 (NF1 and NF2) (PEDONC-2.3)</u>, <u>Rhabdoid Tumor Predisposition Syndrome (PEDONC-2.11)</u>, <u>Hereditary Paraganglioma-Pheochromocytoma (HPP) Syndromes (PEDONC-2.13)</u>, <u>Constitutional Mismatch Repair Deficiency (CMMRD or Turcot Syndrome) (PEDONC-2.15)</u>, <u>Infantile Myofibromatosis (PEDONC-2.18)</u>, or <u>Bloom Syndrome (PEDONC-2.19)</u> in the Pediatric and Special Populations Oncology Imaging Guidelines.
 - Cancer staging and restaging:
 - Whole-body MRI has limited indications in staging and restaging of multiple myeloma. See <u>Multiple Myeloma and Plasmacytomas (ONC-25)</u> in the Oncology Imaging Guidelines for additional details.
 - Evidence has not been published establishing WBMRI as a standard evaluation for any other type of cancer.
 - Autoimmune disease:
 - WBMRI can be approved in some situations for individuals with chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E

Page 39 of 99

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

Cardiovascular and Radiology Imaging Guidelines	V1.0.2026
 For additional information, see <u>Chronic Recurr</u> (<u>PEDMS-10.2</u>) in the Pediatric Musculoskeletal 	Imaging Guidelines.
Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only):	

PET/MRI (Preface-5.3)

PRF.WB.0005.3.A

v1.0.2026

- PET/MRI is generally not supported for a vast majority of oncologic and neurologic conditions due to lack of standardization in imaging technique and interpretation. However, it is medically necessary in select circumstances when the following criteria are met:
 - The individual meets condition-specific guidelines for PET/MRI OR
 - The individual meets ALL of the following:
 - The individual meets guideline criteria for PET/CT, AND
 - PET/CT is not available at the treating institution, AND
 - The provider requests PET/MRI in lieu of PET/CT
- When the above criteria are met, PET/MRI is reported using the code combination of PET Whole-Body (CPT[®] 78813) and MRI Unlisted (CPT[®] 76498). All other methods of reporting PET/MRI are inappropriate.
 - When clinically appropriate, diagnostic MRI codes can be medically necessary at the same time as the PET/MRI code combination.
- For more information, please see the appropriate condition-based guideline.

References (Preface-5)

v1.0.2026

- Villani A, Tabori U, Schiffman J, et al. Biochemical and imaging surveillance in germline TP53 mutation carriers with Li-Fraumeni syndrome: a prospective observational study. *Lancet Oncol*. 2011;12(6):559-567. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(11)70119-X
- Siegel MJ, Acharyya S, Hoffer FA, et al. Whole-Body MR Imaging for Staging of Malignant Tumors in Pediatric Patients: Results of the American College of Radiology Imaging Network 6660 Trial. *Radiology*. 2013;266(2):599-609. doi:10.1148/radiol.12112531
- 3. Antoch G. Whole-Body Dual-Modality PET/CT and Whole-Body MRI for Tumor Staging in Oncology. *JAMA*. 2003;290(24):3199. doi:10.1001/jama.290.24.3199
- 4. Lauenstein TC, Semelka RC. Emerging techniques: Whole-body screening and staging with MRI. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2006;24(3):489-498. doi:10.1002/jmri.20666
- 5. Khanna G, Sato TSP, Ferguson P. Imaging of Chronic Recurrent Multifocal Osteomyelitis. *RadioGraphics*. 2009;29(4):1159-1177. doi:10.1148/rg.294085244
- Ferguson PJ, Sandu M. Current Understanding of the Pathogenesis and Management of Chronic Recurrent Multifocal Osteomyelitis. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2012;14(2):130-141. doi:10.1007/s11926-012-0239-5
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network® (NCCN®). NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines®): Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast, Ovarian, Pancreatic, and Prostate. Version 1.2026. July 10, 2025. Referenced with permission from the NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines®) for Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast, Ovarian, Pancreatic, and Prostate V.1.2026. ©2025 National Comprehensive Cancer Network, Inc. All rights reserved. The NCCN Guidelines® and illustrations herein may not be reproduced in any form for any purpose without the express written permission of the NCCN. To view the most recent and complete version of the NCCN Guidelines®, go online to NCCN.org.
- 8. National Comprehensive Cancer Network® (NCCN®). NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines®): Myeloma. Version 1.2025 September 17, 2024. Referenced with permission from the NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines®) for Myeloma V1.2025. ©2024 National Comprehensive Cancer Network, Inc. All rights reserved. The NCCN Guidelines® and illustrations herein may not be reproduced in any form for any purpose without the express written permission of the NCCN. To view the most recent and complete version of the NCCN Guidelines®, go online to NCCN.org.

V1.0.2026

References (Preface-6)

Guideline

References (Preface-6.1)

V1.0.2026

References (Preface-6.1)

PRF.RF.0006.1.A

v1.0.2026

 Complete reference citations for the journal articles are embedded within the body of the guidelines and/or may be found on the Reference pages at the end of some guideline sections.

General Guidelines (PEDCH-1)

Guideline

Procedure Codes Associated with Chest Imaging
General Guidelines (PEDCH-1.0)
Pediatric Chest Imaging Age Considerations (PEDCH-1.1)
Pediatric Chest Imaging Modality General Considerations (PEDCH-1.3)
References (PEDCH-1)

Procedure Codes Associated with Chest Imaging

CHP.GG.ProcedureCodes.A

v1.0.2026

MRI	CPT®
MRI Chest without contrast	71550
MRI Chest with contrast (rarely used)	71551
MRI Chest without and with contrast	71552
Unlisted MRI procedure (for radiation planning or surgical software)	76498

MRA	CPT [®]
MRA Chest (non-cardiac)	71555

СТ	CPT®
CT Chest without contrast	71250
CT Chest with contrast	71260
CT Chest without and with contrast (rarely used)	71270
CT Guidance for Placement of Radiation Therapy Fields	77014
Unlisted CT procedure (for radiation planning or surgical software)	76497

СТА	CPT [®]
CTA Chest (non-coronary)	71275

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only):

CSRAD0170H.E

UnitedHealthcare Community Plan Coverage Determination Guideline Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 46 of 99

Nuclear Medicine	CPT [®]
PET Imaging; limited area (this code not used in pediatrics)	78811
PET Imaging: skull base to mid-thigh (this code not used in pediatrics)	78812
PET Imaging: whole body (this code not used in pediatrics)	78813
PET with concurrently acquired CT; limited area (this code rarely used in pediatrics)	78814
PET with concurrently acquired CT; skull base to mid-thigh	78815
PET with concurrently acquired CT; whole body	78816
Pulmonary Ventilation (e.g., Aerosol or Gas) Imaging	78579
Pulmonary Perfusion Imaging	78580
Pulmonary Ventilation (e.g., Aerosol or Gas) and Perfusion Imaging	78582
Quantitative Differential Pulmonary Perfusion, Including Imaging When Performed	78597
Quantitative Differential Pulmonary Perfusion and Ventilation (e.g., Aerosol or Gas), Including Imaging When Performed	78598

Ultrasound	
Ultrasound, chest (includes mediastinum, chest wall, and upper back)	76604
Ultrasound, axilla	76882
Ultrasound, breast; unilateral, including axilla when performed; complete	76641
Ultrasound, breast; unilateral, including axilla when performed; limited	76642

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

General Guidelines (PEDCH-1.0)

CHP.GG.0001.0.A

v1.0.2026

- A pertinent clinical evaluation since the onset or change in symptoms, including a detailed history, physical examination, and appropriate laboratory, and basic imaging such as plain radiography or ultrasound should be performed prior to considering advanced imaging (CT, MRI, Nuclear Medicine), unless the individual is undergoing guideline-supported scheduled imaging evaluation. A meaningful technological contact (telehealth visit, telephone call, electronic mail or messaging) since the onset or change in symptoms can serve as a pertinent clinical evaluation.
- Unless otherwise stated in a specific guideline section, the use of advanced imaging to screen asymptomatic individuals for disorders involving the chest is not supported. Advanced imaging of the chest is only supported in individuals who have documented active clinical signs or symptoms of disease involving the chest.
- Unless otherwise stated in a specific guideline section, repeat imaging studies of the chest are not necessary unless there is evidence for progression of disease, new onset of disease, and/or documentation of how repeat imaging will affect individual management or treatment decisions.

Health Equity Considerations

Health equity is the highest level of health for all individuals; health inequity is the avoidable difference in health status or distribution of health resources due to the social conditions in which individuals are born, grow, live, work, and age. Social determinants of health are the conditions in the environment that affect a wide range of health, functioning, and quality of life outcomes and risks. Examples include the following: safe housing, transportation, and neighborhoods; racism, discrimination, and violence; education, job opportunities, and income; access to nutritious foods and physical activity opportunities; access to clean air and water; and language and literacy skills.

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

V1.0.2026

Pediatric Chest Imaging Age Considerations (PEDCH-1.1)

CHP.GG.0001.1.A

v1.0.2026

- Many conditions affecting the chest in the pediatric population have different diagnoses than those occurring in the adult population. For those diseases which occur in both pediatric and adult populations, differences may exist in management due to individual age, comorbidities, and differences in disease natural history between children and adults.
- Individuals who are 18 years old or younger should be imaged according to the Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines if discussed. Any conditions not specifically discussed in the Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines should be imaged according to the General Chest Imaging Guidelines. Individuals who are >18 years old should be imaged according to the General Chest Imaging Guidelines, except where directed otherwise by a specific guideline section.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Modality General Considerations (PEDCH-1.3)

CHP.GG.0001.3.A

v1.0.2026

MRI

- MRI Chest is generally performed without and with contrast (CPT[®] 71552) unless the individual has a documented contraindication to gadolinium or otherwise stated in a specific guideline section.
- Due to the length of time required for MRI acquisition and the need to minimize individual movement, anesthesia is usually medically necessary for almost all infants (except neonate) and young individuals (age <7 years), as well as older individuals with delays in development or maturity. This anesthesia may be administered via oral or intravenous routes. In this individual population, MRI sessions should be planned with a goal of minimizing anesthesia exposure by adhering to the following considerations:</p>
 - MRI procedures can be performed without and/or with contrast use as supported by these condition-based guidelines. If intravenous access will already be present for anesthesia administration and there is no contraindication for using contrast, imaging without and with contrast is medically necessary if requested. By doing so, the requesting provider may avoid repetitive anesthesia administration to perform an MRI with contrast if the initial study without contrast is inconclusive.
 - Evidence-based literature demonstrates the potential for gadolinium deposition in various organs including the brain, after the use of MRI contrast.
 - The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has noted that there is currently no evidence to suggest that gadolinium retention in the brain is harmful and restricting gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCAs) use is not warranted at this time. It has been recommended that GBCA use should be limited to circumstances in which additional information provided by the contrast agent is necessary and the necessity of repetitive MRIs with GBCAs should be assessed.
- If multiple body areas are supported by the guidelines for the clinical condition being evaluated, MRI of all necessary body areas should be obtained concurrently.
- The presence of surgical hardware or implanted devices may preclude MRI.
- The selection of best examination may require coordination between the provider and the imaging service.
- CT

- CT Chest is generally performed either with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) or without contrast (CPT[®] 71250).
 - There are no generally accepted pediatric indications for CT Chest without and with contrast (CPT[®] 71270).
- CT should not be used to replace MRI in an attempt to avoid sedation unless listed as a recommended study in a specific guideline section.
- The selection of best examination may require coordination between the provider and the imaging service.

Ultrasound

- Ultrasound Chest (CPT[®] 76604) or Axilla (CPT[®] 76882) is medically necessary as an initial study for evaluating adenopathy, palpable chest wall lesions, pleural effusion or thickening, patency of thoracic vasculature, and diaphragm motion abnormalities.
- For those individuals who do require advanced imaging, ultrasound can be very beneficial in selecting the proper modality, body area, image sequences, and contrast level that will provide the most definitive information for the individual.

· Nuclear Medicine

- Nuclear medicine studies other than PET/CT are rarely used in evaluation of the pediatric chest.
- Pulmonary Ventilation-Perfusion Imaging (CPT[®] 78582) has been replaced by CTA Chest (CPT[®] 71275) or CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260), but is medically necessary for evaluation of suspected pulmonary embolism if CT is unavailable.
 - See <u>Pulmonary Embolism (PE) (CH-25.1)</u> in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.
- Pulmonary Perfusion Imaging (CPT[®] 78580) is not medically necessary in lieu of CPT[®] 78582 for initial evaluation of suspected pulmonary embolism, but is medically necessary for follow-up of an equivocal or positive ventilation-perfusion lung scan (CPT[®] 78582) to evaluate for interval change.
- Pulmonary Ventilation Imaging (CPT[®] 78579) is not medically necessary in lieu of CPT[®] 78582 for evaluation of suspected pulmonary embolism, but is medically necessary for additional evaluation of an abnormal perfusion-only scan (CPT[®] 78580).
- Pulmonary split crystal function study (CPT[®] 78597 or CPT[®] 78598), also known as Quantitative Differential Pulmonary Perfusion, is medically necessary for preoperative planning of segmental, lobar, or lung resection.
- Quantitative Differential Pulmonary Perfusion Lung Scan (CPT[®] 78597 or CPT[®] 78598), can be performed post-lung transplant to detect regional perfusion abnormalities.
- Radiopharmaceutical nuclear medicine imaging of an inflammatory process (CPT[®] 78800, CPT[®] 78801, CPT[®] 78802, or CPT[®] 78803) is rarely performed, but is medically necessary for evaluation of sarcoidosis or toxicity from drug toxicity (cyclophosphamide, busulfan, bleomycin, amiodarone, or nitrofurantoin).

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only):

V1.0.2026

- · 3D Rendering
 - 3D Rendering indications in pediatric chest imaging are identical to those in the general imaging guidelines. See <u>3D Rendering (Preface-4.1)</u> in the Preface Imaging Guidelines.

The guidelines listed in this section for certain specific indications are not intended to be all-inclusive. Clinical judgment remains paramount and variance from these guidelines may be appropriate and warranted for specific clinical situations.

References (PEDCH-1)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Siegel MJ. Chest. In: Pediatric Sonography. Philadelphia. Wolters Kluwer. 2018;156-195.
- 2. ACR Practice parameter for performing and interpretating of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Revised 2017. (Resolution 10).
- 3. ACR-ASER-SCBT-MR-SPR Practice Parameter for the Performance of Pediatric Computed Tomography (CT). Revised 2019. (Resolution 6).
- 4. Trinavarat P and Riccabonna M. Potential of ultrasound in the pediatric chest. *Eur J Radiol*. 2014;83(9):1507-1518.
- 5. Goh Y, Kapur J. Sonography of the pediatric chest. J Ultrasound Med. 2016 May;35(5):1067-1080.
- 6. Reighard C, Junaid S, Jackson WM, et al. Anesthetic Exposure During Childhood and Neurodevelopmental Outcomes. *JAMA Netw Open.* 2022;5(6):e2217427. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.17427.
- 7. Nevin MA. Chapter 407: Pulmonary embolism, infarction, and hemorrhage. In: Kliegman RM, Stanton BF, St. Geme JW III, et al., eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024;2692-2700.
- 8. Expert Panel on Cardiac Imaging, Kirsch J, Wu CC, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Suspected Pulmonary Embolism: 2022 Update. *J Am Coll Radiol*. 2022;19(11S):S488-S501. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2022.09.014
- 9. ACR–SPR–STR Practice Parameter for the Performance of Pulmonary Scintigraphy. Revised 2018. (Resolution 30).
- 10. Blumfield E, Swenson DW, Iyer RS, Stanescu AL. Gadolinium-based contrast agents review of recent literature on magnetic resonance imaging signal intensity changes and tissue deposits, with emphasis on pediatric patients. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2019;49(4):448-457. doi: 10.1007/s00247-018-4304-8.
- 11. Fraum TJ, Ludwig DR, Bashir MR, Fowler KJ. Gadolinium-based contrast agents: A comprehensive risk assessment. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2017;46(2):338-353. doi: 10.1002/jmri.25625.
- 12. Update on FDA approach to safety issue of gadolinium retention after administration of gadolinium-based contrast agents. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/media/116492/download. September 20, 2018.
- 13. Implementation Guide: Medicaid State Plan Eligibility Eligibility Groups Mandatory Coverage Infants and Children under Age 19. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/guidance/document/implementation-guide-medicaid-state-plan-eligibility-eligibility-groups-aeu-mandatory-2. Issue date: July 14, 2017.
- 14. Graham MR. Clinical update regarding general anesthesia-associated neurotoxicity in infants and children. *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol.* 2017;30(6):682-687. doi:10.1097/ACO.0000000000000520
- 15. Soares BP, Lequin MH, Huisman TAGM. Safety of Contrast Material Use in Children. *Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am.* 2017;25(4):779-785. doi:10.1016/j.mric.2017.06.009
- 16. Bhalla D, Naranje P, Jana M, Bhalla AS. Pediatric lung ultrasonography: current perspectives. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2022;52:2038-2050

V1.0.2026

Lymphadenopathy (PEDCH-2)

Guideline

Lymphadenopathy (PEDCH-2.1) Reference (PEDCH-2)

Lymphadenopathy (PEDCH-2.1)

CHP.LY.0002.1.A

v1.0.2026

- Axillary lymphadenopathy imaging indications in pediatric individuals are identical to those for adult individuals. See Axillary Lymphadenopathy (and Mass) (CH-2.2) in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.
- Supraclavicular adenopathy in pediatric individuals is almost always pathologic, and advanced imaging is medically necessary prior to excisional biopsy. Fine-needle aspiration, while common in adults prior to advanced imaging, is not medically necessary for evaluating lymphadenopathy in pediatric individuals. ANY combination of the following studies are medically necessary for evaluation of supraclavicular adenopathy:
 - CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260)
 - MRI Chest without and with contrast (CPT[®] 71552)
 - Ultrasound Chest (CPT[®] 76604)
- If malignancy is suspected, refer to the condition specific imaging guidelines as below:
 - Lymphoma: Pediatric Lymphomas (PEDONC-5) in the Pediatric Oncology Imaging Guidelines.
 - Soft tissue sarcoma: <u>Pediatric Soft Tissue Sarcomas (PEDONC-8)</u> in the Pediatric Oncology Imaging Guidelines.
 - Neuroblastoma: Neuroblastoma (PEDONC-6) in the Pediatric Oncology Imaging Guidelines.

V1.0.2026

Reference (PEDCH-2)

v1.0.2026

1. Allen-Rhoades W and Steuber CP. Clinical assessment and differential diagnosis of the child with suspected cancer. In: Pizzo PA, Poplack DG, eds. *Principles and Practice of Pediatric Oncology*. 7th ed. 2015;101-111.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD0170H.E

UnitedHealthcare Community Plan Coverage Determination Guideline

Effective: February 3, 2026 Page 56 of 99

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

V1.0.2026

Mediastinal Mass (PEDCH-3)

Guideline

Mediastinal Mass (PEDCH-3.1) References (PEDCH-3)

Mediastinal Mass (PEDCH-3.1)

CHP.MM.0003.1.A

v1.0.2026

- The causes of mediastinal masses in pediatric individuals are generally different than those in adults, and therefore imaging considerations are different. Up to half of all pediatric mediastinal masses are malignant.
- Chest x-ray is medically necessary as an initial study for all individuals with suspected mediastinal mass.
- CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) is medically necessary for any mediastinal mass identified on chest x-ray.
 - Masses can be very large and anterior masses frequently cause compression of the trachea and/or mediastinal blood vessels.
- MRI Chest without and with contrast (CPT[®] 71552) is medically necessary to evaluate any of the following findings:
 - a posterior (paravertebral) mediastinal mass on CT Chest that invades the spinal canal
 - CT findings that are inconclusive regarding specific anatomy
 - Large anterior mediastinal masses only whenanesthesia is not used to complete the study.
- PET/CT (CPT[®] 78815) is medically necessary prior to biopsy in pediatric individuals
 if lymphoma is known or strongly suspected or there is evidence of tracheal
 compression on CT imaging. See <u>Pediatric Lymphoma (PEDONC-5)</u> in the Pediatric
 Oncology Imaging Guidelines.
- MIBG (CPT® 78800, CPT® 78802, CPT® 78803, or CPT® 78804) is medically necessary prior to biopsy in pediatric individuals if neuroblastoma is known or strongly suspected. See Neuroblastoma (PEDONC-6) in the Pediatric Oncology Imaging Guidelines.
- Ultrasound chest (CPT[®] 76604) is medically necessary in individuals younger than 5 years old to distinguish prominent but otherwise normal thymus from true mediastinal mass.
- A single repeat CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) is medically necessary to confirm stability and avoid biopsy when NONE of the following features are present:
 - anterior mediastinal mass
 - enlarged lymph nodes anywhere in the imaging field
 - lymphopenia
 - pleural effusion

References (PEDCH-3)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Thacker PG, Mahani MG, Heider A, et al. Imaging evaluation of mediastinal masses in children and adults. *J Thorac Imaging*. 2015;30(4):247-264.
- 2. Mullen EA and Gratias EJ. Oncologic emergencies. In: Orkin SH, Fisher DE, Ginsburg D, et al., eds. *Nathan and Oski's Hematology and Oncology of Infancy and Childhood*. 8th ed. 2015:2267-2291.
- 3. Trinavarat P and Riccabonna M. Potential of ultrasound in the pediatric chest. *Eur J Radiol*. 2014; 83(9):1507-1518.
- 4. Naeem F, Metzger ML, Arnold SR, et al. Distinguishing benign mediastinal masses from malignancy in a histoplasmosis-endemic region. *J Pediatr.* 2015;167(2):409-415.
- 5. Manson DE. Magnetic resonance imaging of the mediastinum, chest wall and pleura in children. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2016;46(6):902-915.
- Ackman JB, Chung JH, Walker CM, et al. American College of Radiology ACR Appropriateness Criteria[®] Imaging of Mediastinal Masses. Revised 2020.
- Sreedher G, Tadros SS, Janitz E. Pediatric mediastinal masses. *Pediatr Radiol*. Published online June 8, 2022. doi: 10.1007/s00247-022-05409-4.
- 8. Biko DM, Lichtenberger JP 3rd, Rapp JB, Khwaja A, Huppmann AR, Chung EM. Mediastinal Masses in Children: *Radiologic-Pathologic Correlation* [published correction appears in *Radiographics*. 2021 Sep-Oct;41(5):E164. doi: 10.1148/rg.2021219008.]. *Radiographics*. 2021;41(4):1186-1207. doi:10.1148/rg.2021200180
- 9. Vo NH, Shashi KK, Winant AJ, Liszewski MC, Lee EY. Imaging evaluation of the pediatric mediastinum: new International Thymic Malignancy Interest Group classification system for children. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2022;52(10):1948-1962. doi:10.1007/s00247-022-05361-3
- 10. Jain R., Jana M., Gupta A, Naranje P. Ultrasonography in the evaluation of pediatric chest "masses": when to consider?. *J Ultrasound Med* 2022;41:821- 826

V1.0.2026

Hemoptysis (PEDCH-4)

Guideline

Hemoptysis – Imaging (PEDCH-4.1) References (PEDCH-4)

Hemoptysis – Imaging (PEDCH-4.1)

CHP.BL.0004.1.A

v1.0.2026

- True hemoptysis is rare in pediatric individuals. A detailed history, physical examination, and appropriate laboratory studies should be performed prior to considering advanced imaging.
 - Aspirated blood from epistaxis or emesis frequently presents as hemoptysis, and history and physical examination will aid in this assessment.
- Chest x-ray is medically necessary as an initial study for stable individuals.
 - Advanced imaging is not medically necessary to evaluate individuals with epistaxis when there is a normal chest radiograph and no personal or family history of underlying lung disease or bleeding disorder.
 - CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) or CTA Chest (CPT[®] 71275) is medically necessary for all other pediatric individuals with true hemoptysis.
 - CT Chest without contrast (CPT[®] 71250) is medically necessary for individuals with a documented allergy to CT contrast or significant renal dysfunction.
- MRI is not medically necessary in the evaluation of pediatric hemoptysis.

References (PEDCH-4)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Gupta A, Sands M, Chauhan NR. Massive hemoptysis in pulmonary infections: bronchial artery embolization. *J Thorac Dis.* 2018;10(S28):S3458-S3464. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.06.147.
- 2. Nevin MA. Chapter 458: Pulmonary embolism, infarction, and hemorrhage. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:2692-2700.
- 3. Garg A, Bhalla A, Naranje P, Kandasamy D. Pediatric hemoptysis: diagnostic and interventional challenges. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2024;54(11):1769-1784. doi:10.1007/s00247-024-06002-7
- 4. O'Gurek D, Choi HYJ. Hemoptysis: Evaluation and Management. *Am Fam Physician*. 2022 Feb 1;105(2):144-151. PMID: 35166503.

V1.0.2026

Cystic Fibrosis and Bronchiectasis (PEDCH-5)

Guideline

Cystic Fibrosis (PEDCH-5.1)
Bronchiectasis Not Associated with Cystic Fibrosis (PEDCH-5.2)
References (PEDCH-5)

Cystic Fibrosis (PEDCH-5.1)

CHP.CF.0005.1.A

v1.0.2026

- Chest x-ray is medically necessary for initial evaluation of acute clinical symptoms in individuals with cystic fibrosis.
- CT Chest without contrast (CPT[®] 71250) or with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) is medically necessary in the setting of any of the following (chest x-ray not required):
 - hemoptysis
 - pneumonia worsening despite antibiotic therapy
 - pleural effusion or empyema
 - suspected fungal pneumonia
 - monitoring treatment changes on bronchiectasis
 - expiratory CT for evaluating small airways disease
 - pre- and post-lung transplant evaluation
 - uncooperative individual
- Low dose CT Chest without contrast (CPT[®] 71250) is medically necessary every 2 years for monitoring of bronchiectasis and small airways disease.
- Cystic fibrosis associated liver disease develops in 5-10% of individuals with cystic fibrosis. Advanced imaging may be medically necessary if concerned for liver disease. See Liver Disease (PEDAB-16) in the Pediatric Abdomen Imaging Guidelines.

V1.0.2026

Bronchiectasis Not Associated with Cystic Fibrosis (PEDCH-5.2)

CHP.CF.0005.2.A

v1.0.2026

 Bronchiectasis not associated with cystic fibrosis is rare in pediatric individuals, and imaging indications are identical to those for adult individuals. See <u>Bronchiectasis</u> (<u>CH-7.1</u>) in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.

References (PEDCH-5)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Egan M, Shechter MS, Voynow JA. Cystic fibrosis. Chapter 454. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:2662-2678.
- 2. Szczesniak R, Turkovic L, Andrinopoulou E-R, Tiddens HA. Chest imaging in cystic fibrosis studies: What counts, and can be counted? *J Cyst Fibros*. 2017;16(2):175-185. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2016.12.008.
- 3. Murphy KP, Maher MM, Oconnor OJ. Imaging of Cystic Fibrosis and Pediatric Bronchiectasis. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2016;206(3):448-454. doi: 10.2214/ajr.15.14437.
- 4. Lasker OJ. Bronchectasis. Chapter 452. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:2658-2660.
- 5. Ciet P, Booij R, Dijkshoorn M, van Straten M, Tiddens HAWM. Chest radiography and computed tomography imaging in cystic fibrosis: current challenges and new perspectives. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2023;53(4):649-659. doi:10.1007/s00247-022-05522-4
- O'Regan PW, Stevens NE, Logan N, Ryan DJ, Maher MM. Paediatric Thoracic Imaging in Cystic Fibrosis in the Era of Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator Modulation. *Children*. 2024; 11(2):256. https://doi.org/10.3390/children11020256
- 7. Bugenhagen SM, Grant JCE, Rosenbluth DB, Bhalla S. Update on the Role of Chest Imaging in Cystic Fibrosis. *RadioGraphics* 2024 44:9

V1.0.2026

Bronchiolitis (PEDCH-6)

Guideline

Bronchiolitis (PEDCH-6.1) References (PEDCH-6)

Page 67 of 99

Bronchiolitis (PEDCH-6.1)

CHP.BR.0006.1.A

v1.0.2026

Bronchiolitis is a self-limiting viral infection causing inflammation of the small airways, most common in infants under 12 months of age.

- Chest x-ray or chest ultrasound (CPT®76604) is medically necessary when there is a clinical suspicion of pneumonia or other complications.
- Advanced imaging is not medically necessary for routine evaluation or monitoring of bronchiolitis.
- CT Chest with contrast (CPT® 71260) is medically necessary for the following:
 - pleural effusion or empyema on relevant chest x-ray or chest ultrasound (CPT®76604)
 - immunocompromised individual with acute pulmonary symptoms
 - abnormality on relevant chest x-ray suggesting condition other than bronchiolitis

References (PEDCH-6)

v1.0.2026

- 1. House SA, Ralston SL. Chapter 439,1: Wheezing in infants: bronchiolitis. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:2585-2588.
- 2. Chang AB, Bush A, Grimwood K. Bronchiectasis in children: diagnosis and treatment. *Lancet*. 2018;392(10150):866-879. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18)31554-x.
- 3. Darras KE, Roston AT, Yewchuk LK. Imaging Acute Airway Obstruction in Infants and Children. *RadioGraphics*. 2015;35(7):2064-2079. doi: 10.1148/rg.2015150096.
- Jaworska J, Komorowska-Piotrowska A, Pomiećko A, et al. Consensus on the Application of Lung Ultrasound in Pneumonia and Bronchiolitis in Children. *Diagnostics (Basel)*. 2020;10(11):935. Published 2020 Nov 11. doi:10.3390/diagnostics10110935
- 5. Smith JA, Stone BS, Shin J, et al. Association of outcomes in point-of-care lung ultrasound for bronchiolitis in the pediatric emergency department. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2024;75:22-28. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2023.10.019
- 6. Kirolos A, Manti S, Blacow R, et al. A Systematic Review of Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Bronchiolitis [published correction appears in *J Infect Dis.* 2020 Mar 16;221(7):1204. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiz600.]. *J Infect Dis.* 2020;222(Suppl 7):S672-S679. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiz240

Pneumonia (PEDCH-7)

Guideline

Pneumonia (PEDCH-7.1) Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (PEDCH-7.2) References (PEDCH-7)

Pneumonia (PEDCH-7.1)

CHP.PN.0007.1.A

v1.0.2026

- · Pneumonia imaging indications in pediatric individuals are very similar to those for adult individuals. See **Pneumonia (CH-13.1)** in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.
- · Pediatric-specific imaging considerations include the following:
 - Chest x-ray and/or Ultrasound chest (CPT® 76604) is medically necessary when the individual's condition does not respond to standard therapy.
 - CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) is medically necessary for:
 - immunocompromised individuals with acute pulmonary symptoms
 - diagnosis of an abscess
 - necrotizing pneumonia cannot be confirmed
 - recurring pneumonia
 - acute complications
 - CT Chest without contrast (CPT[®] 71250) or with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) is medically necessary for individuals with recurrent lower respiratory tract infections.
 - Ultrasound chest (CPT® 76604) is medically necessary as an alternative for evaluation of complicated or recurrent childhood pneumonia.

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (PEDCH-7.2)

CHP.PN.0007.2.A

v1.0.2026

- Pediatric imaging for COVID-19 positive individuals are similar to those for adult individuals. See <u>Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (CH-13.2)</u> in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.
- Pediatric-specific imaging considerations include the following:
 - chest x-ray is the initial imaging test for all pediatric individuals
 - for concerns involving <u>Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children (MIS-C)</u>
 see (<u>PEDCD-12</u>)

References (PEDCH-7)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Kelly MS and Sandora TJ. Chapter 449: Community-acquired pneumonia. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:2642-2648.
- 2. Andronikou S, Goussard P, Sorantin E. Computed tomography in children with community-acquired pneumonia. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2017;47(11):1431-1440. doi: 10.1007/s00247-017-3891-0.
- 3. Stadler JAM, Andronikou S, Zar HJ. Lung ultrasound for the diagnosis of community-acquired pneumonia in children. *Pediatr Radiol*. 2017;47(11):1412-1419. doi: 10.1007/s00247-017-3910-1.
- El–Saied MM, Mohie El Deen ZM, Askar GA. Recurrent Pneumonia in Children Admitted to Assiut University Children Hospital. Magnitude of the Problem and Possible Risk Factors. *Med Res J.* 2019;4(1):13-24. doi: 10.5603/mrj.a2019.0001.
- 5. Goh Y and Kapur J. Sonography of the pediatric chest. J Ultrasound Med. 2016; 35 (5):1067-1080
- American College of Radiology ACR Appropriateness Criteria[®] Pneumonia in the Immunocompetent Child. New 2019.
- 7. Tsou PY, Chen KP, Wang YH, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Lung Ultrasound Performed by Novice Versus Advanced Sonographers for Pneumonia in Children: A Systematic Review and Meta#analysis. *Acad Emerg Med*. 2019;26(9):1074-1088. doi: 10.1111/acem.13818.
- 8. Foust AM, McAdam AJ, Chu WC, et al. Practical guide for pediatric pulmonologists on imaging management of pediatric patients with COVID#19. *Pediatr Pulmonol*. 2020;55(9):2213-2224. doi: 10.1002/ppul.24870.
- 9. Nino G, Zember J, Sanchez-Jacob R, Gutierrez MJ, Sharma K, Linguraru MG. Pediatric Lung Imaging Features of Covid-19: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Pediatr Pulmonol*. Published online September 14, 2020. doi: 10.1002/ppul.25070.
- 10. Wang J, Mo Y, Su Y, et al. Computed tomography features of COVID-19 in children. *Medicine*. 2021;100(38):e22571. doi: 10.1097/md.000000000022571.
- Yan JH, Yu N, Wang YH, Gao YB, Pan L. Lung ultrasound vs chest radiography in the diagnosis of children pneumonia: Systematic evidence. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2020;99(50):e23671. doi:10.1097/ MD.000000000023671
- 12. Shi C, Xu X, Xu Y. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the accuracy of lung ultrasound and chest radiography in diagnosing community acquired pneumonia in children. *Pediatr Pulmonol*. 2024;59(12):3130-3147. doi:10.1002/ppul.27221
- 13. Toro MS, Martínez JLV, Falcão RV, Prata-Barbosa A, Cunha AJLAD. Point-of-care ultrasound by the pediatrician in the diagnosis and follow-up of community-acquired pneumonia. *J Pediatr (Rio J)*. 2021;97(1):13-21. doi:10.1016/j.jped.2020.07.003
- 14. Alexopoulou E, Prountzos S, Raissaki M, et al. Imaging of Acute Complications of Community-Acquired Pneumonia in the Paediatric Population-From Chest Radiography to MRI. *Children (Basel)*. 2024;11(1):122. Published 2024 Jan 18. doi:10.3390/children11010122
- 15. Kvist O, Garcia JP. Has the cat got your tongue, or is something obstructing your throat? A review of imaging of ingested and aspirated foreign bodies in the paediatric population. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2024;54(13):2175-2184. doi:10.1007/s00247-024-06068-3
- Sanchez-Jacob, R., Prat Aymerich, C., Rodrigo, C., Keller, S., Shet, N.S. (2022). Evidence-Based Imaging of Community Acquired Pneumonia in Children. In: Otero, H.J., Kaplan, S.L., Medina, L.S., Blackmore, C.C., Applegate, K.E. (eds) *Evidence-Based Imaging in Pediatrics. Evidence-Based Imaging*. Springer, Cham. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38095-3 93-1
- Qin T, Huang Z, Lan Q, Nie Y, Luo G, Cheng L, Li L, Tang Z, Ma Z. Evaluation of the application value of ultrasound in the diagnosis of community-acquired pneumonia in children: a preliminary study based on largescale outpatient cases. *Front Pediatr.* 2025 Apr 30;13:1582647. doi: 10.3389/fped.2025.1582647. PMID: 40370976; PMCID: PMC12075177.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E

V1.0.2026

Solitary Pulmonary Nodule (PEDCH-8)

Guideline

Solitary Pulmonary Nodule (PEDCH-8.1) References (PEDCH-8)

Solitary Pulmonary Nodule (PEDCH-8.1)

CHP.PM.0008.1.A

v1.0.2026

The Fleischner Society guidelines for solitary pulmonary nodule management do not apply to pediatric individuals. An incidental solitary pulmonary nodule in a individual representing a primary lung carcinoma has never been reported in the literature. Similarly, an extrathoracic malignancy presenting with an incidental solitary pulmonary nodule in an otherwise healthy individual is very rare.

- CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) is medically necessary as a one-time evaluation of a pulmonary nodule incidentally discovered on other imaging.
- Follow-up imaging of an incidental solitary pulmonary nodule in an asymptomatic healthy individual is **not** medically necessary.
 - Follow-up imaging is medically necessary for the following:
 - immunocompromised individuals
 - malignancy (see below)
 - invasive infection
 - new or worsening pulmonary symptoms
- Individuals with a malignant solid tumor who have pulmonary nodules of any size should have imaging according to the guideline section for the specific cancer type. See **Pediatric Oncology Imaging Guidelines** for specific imaging indications.
- This guideline section does not apply to multiple pulmonary nodules, which are imaged according to the underlying disorder in pediatric individuals.

Background and Supporting Information

A **nodule** is any pulmonary or pleural lesion that is a discrete, spherical opacity 2-30 mm in diameter surrounded by normal lung tissue. A larger nodule is called a mass. Entities that are not nodules, and are considered benign, include non-spherical linear, sheet-like, two-dimensional or scarring opacities.

References (PEDCH-8)

v1.0.2026

- Assefa D and Atlas A. Natural history of incidental pulmonary nodules in children. *Pediatr Pulmonol*. 2015;50(5):456-459.
- 2. Westra SJ, Broday AS, Mahani MG, et al. The incidental pulmonary nodule in a child, Part 1; recommendations from the SPR Thoracic Imaging Committee regarding characterization, significance, and follow up. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2015;45(5):628-633.
- 3. Westra SJ, Thacker PG, Podberesky DJ, et al. The incidental pulmonary nodule in a child, Part 2; commentary and suggestions for clinical management, risk communication and prevention. *Pediatr Radiol*. 2015;45(5):634-639.
- 4. Strouse PJ. The incidental pulmonary nodule in a child: a conundrum. Pediatr Radiol. 2015;45(5):627.
- Liang TI and Lee EY. Pediatric Pulmonary Nodules. Imaging Guidelines and Recommendations. Radiol Clin N Am. 2022;60:55-67.
- 6. Dilimulati M, Yuan S, Jiang H, et al. Imaging features and clinical evaluation of pulmonary nodules in children. *Front Oncol.* 2024;14:1385600. Published 2024 Aug 8. doi:10.3389/fonc.2024.1385600
- 7. Barber A, Passarelli P, Dworsky ZD, Gatcliffe C, Ryu J, Lesser DJ. Clinical implications of pulmonary nodules detected in children. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* 2021;56(1):203-210. doi:10.1002/ppul.25146
- 8. Martin MD, Henry TS, Tong BC, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Incidentally Detected Indeterminate Pulmonary Nodule. *Journal of the American College of Radiology,* 2023; Volume 20, S455 S470

V1.0.2026

Positive PPD or Tuberculosis (PEDCH-9)

Guideline

Positive PPD or Tuberculosis (PEDCH-9.1) References (PEDCH-9)

Positive PPD or Tuberculosis (PEDCH-9.1)

CHP.TB.0009.1.A

v1.0.2026

- Positive PPD and tuberculosis imaging indications in pediatric individuals are similar to those for adult individuals.
 - See <u>PPD or TB (Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Nontuberculous</u>
 <u>Mycobacterial Pulmonary Disease [NTM-PD]) (CH-14.1)</u> in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.
- Pediatric-specific imaging considerations include the following:
 - MRI Spine with and without contrast of the symptomatic spine level is medically necessary in individuals with concern for spinal involvement of tuberculosis.
 - MRI Chest with and without contrast (CPT® 71552) can be considered as a radiation-free alternative to chest CT in pediatric individuals.

Background and Supporting Information

• Chest x-ray can be useful as the initial imaging study when TB is suspected.

References (PEDCH-9)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Cameron LH, Starke, JR. Chapter 261: Tuberculosis (Mycobacterium tuberculosis). In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics. 22nd ed. 2024:1835-1855.
- 2. Sodhi KS, Bhalla AS, Mahomed N, Laya BF. Imaging of thoracic tuberculosis in children: current and future directions. Pediatr Radiol. 2017;47(10):1260-1268. doi: 10.1007/s00247-017-3866-1.
- 3. Skoura E, Zumla A, Bomanji J. Imaging in tuberculosis. Int J Infect Dis. 2015;32:87-93. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijid.2014.12.00.7
- 4. Concepcion NDP, Laya BF, Andronikou S, et al. Standardized radiographic interpretation of thoracic tuberculosis in children. Pediatr Radiol. 2017;47(10):1237-1248. doi: 10.1007/s00247-017-3868-z.
- 5. Andronikou S, Miranda-Schaeubinger M, Goussard P, et al. Changes in the Role of Chest Radiographs for Diagnosing and Managing Children with Tuberculosis: the 2022 World Health Organization Consolidated Guidelines on Tuberculosis. Pediatr Radiology. 2023;53:566-570. doi. 10.1007/s00247-022-05544-y.
- 6. Pillay T, Andronikou S, Zar HJ. Chest imaging in paediatric pulmonary TB. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2020;36:65-72. doi:10.1016/j.prrv.2020.10.002
- 7. Jain SK, Andronikou S, Goussard P, et al. Advanced imaging tools for childhood tuberculosis: potential applications and research needs. Lancet Infect Dis. 2020;20(11):e289-e297. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(20)30177-8
- 8. Mahomed N, Kilborn T, Smit EJ, et al. Tuberculosis revisted: classic imaging findings in childhood. *Pediatr* Radiol. 2023;53(9):1799-1828. doi:10.1007/s00247-023-05648-z
- 9. Buonsenso D, Pata D, Visconti E, et al. Chest CT Scan for the Diagnosis of Pediatric Pulmonary TB: Radiological Findings and Its Diagnostic Significance. Front Pediatr. 2021;9:583197. Published 2021 Apr 23. doi:10.3389/fped.2021.583197
- 10. Tonne EO, Fosbøl MØ, Poulsen A, Nygaard U, Højgaard L, Borgwardt L. Imaging modalities for pulmonary tuberculosis in children: A systematic review. Eur J Radiol Open. 2022;10:100472. Published 2022 Dec 30. doi:10.1016/j.ejro.2022.100472
- 11. Rodrigues C, Singhal T. What is New in the Diagnosis of Childhood Tuberculosis?. Indian J Pediatr. 2024;91(7):717-723. doi:10.1007/s12098-023-04992-0
- 12. Concepcion NDP, Laya BF, Andronikou S, Abdul Manaf Z, Atienza MIM, Sodhi KS. Imaging recommendations and algorithms for pediatric tuberculosis: part 1-thoracic tuberculosis. Pediatr Radiol. 2023;53(9):1773-1781. doi:10.1007/s00247-023-05654-1
- 13. Sodhi KS, Kritsaneepaiboon S, Jana M, Bhatia A. Ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging in thoracic tuberculosis in the pediatric population: moving beyond conventional radiology. Pediatr Radiol. 2023;53(12):2552-2567. doi:10.1007/s00247-023-05787-3
- 14. Miranda-Schaeubinger M, Venkatakrishna SSB, Otero HJ, et al. Evolving role of chest radiographs for diagnosis of pediatric pulmonary tuberculosis. Pediatr Radiol. 2023;53(9):1753-1764. doi:10.1007/s00247-023-05652-3
- 15. WHO consolidated guidelines on tuberculosis: Module 5: Management of tuberculosis in children and adolescents [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022.
- 16. Laya, B.F., Sodhi, K.S. Current and evolving directions in childhood tuberculosis imaging. Pediatr Radiol 54, 594-595 (2024). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00247-023-05841-0

V1.0.2026

Asthma (PEDCH-10)

Guideline

Asthma (PEDCH-10.1) References (PEDCH-10)

Asthma (PEDCH-10.1)

CHP.AS.0010.1.A

v1.0.2026

- Chest x-ray and/or Ultrasound chest (CPT[®] 76604) is medically necessary to further evaluate respiratory distress when the individual's condition does not respond to standard therapy.
- Advanced imaging is not medically necessary for routine evaluation or monitoring of asthma.
- CT Chest without (CPT[®] 71250) or with (CPT[®] 71260) contrast is medically necessary for the following:
 - pleural effusion or empyema on relevant chest x-ray
 - immunocompromised individual with acute pulmonary symptoms
 - abnormality on relevant chest x-ray suggesting condition other than asthma, including suspected foreign body
 - asthma and poor response to bronchodilators or conventional inhaled corticosteroid therapy in whom associated conditions, such as allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis and eosinophilic pneumonia, can mimic asthma

References (PEDCH-10)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Liu AH, Spahn JD, and Sicherer SH. Chapter 185: Childhood asthma. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:1385-1410.
- 2. Ash SY, Diaz AA. The role of imaging in the assessment of severe asthma. *Curr Opin Pulmon Med.* 2017;23(1):97-102. doi: 10.1097/mcp.00000000000341.
- 3. Allie EH, Dingle HE, Johnson WN, et al. ED chest radiography for children with asthma exacerbation is infrequently associated with change of management. *Am J Emerg Med*. 2018;36(5):769-773. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2017.10.009.
- 4. Darras KE, Roston AT, Yewchuk LK. Imaging Acute Airway Obstruction in Infants and Children. *RadioGraphics*. 2015;35(7):2064-2079. doi: 10.1148/rg.2015150096.
- 5. American College of Radiology ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Pneumonia in the Immunocompetent Child. New 2019
- Ru Q, Liu L, Dong X. Diagnosis of asthmatic pneumonia in children by lung ultrasound vs. chest X-ray: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Postepy Dermatol Alergol.* 2023;40(1):28-34. doi:10.5114/ ada.2021.108441
- 7. MathesonAM. Johnstone J, Niedbalski PJ, et al. New frontiers in asthma chest imaging. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 2025; 155:241 254.e1

V1.0.2026

Pectus Deformities (PEDCH-11)

Guideline

Pectus Deformities (PEDCH-11.1) References (PEDCH-11)

Pectus Deformities (PEDCH-11.1)

CHP.PD.0011.1.A

v1.0.2026

- CT Chest without contrast (CPT[®] 71250), MRI Chest with and without contrast (CPT[®] 71552), or MRI Chest without contrast (CPT[®] 71550) is medically necessary in individuals with a pectus deformity for any of the following:
 - preoperative planning
 - significant cardiac depression after chest x-ray and echocardiography (CPT[®] 93306)
 - evidence of pulmonary impingement after chest x-ray and pulmonary function tests (PFTs) if there is increasing shortness of breath
 - Note: It may not be possible to obtain PFTs in individuals younger than 9 years old.
 - evaluation of congenital heart disease or Marfan's syndrome when suspected

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

References (PEDCH-11)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Buziashvili D, Gopman JM, Weissler H, Bodenstein L, Kaufman AJ, Taub PJ. An Evidence-Based Approach to Management of Pectus Excavatum and Carinatum. Ann Plast Surg. 2019;82(3):352-358. doi: 10.1097/ sap.000000000001654.
- 2. Frantz FW. Indications and guidelines for pectus excavatum repair. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2011;23(4):486-491.
- 3. Koumbourlis AC. Chest wall abnormalities and their clinical significance in childhood. Paediatr Resp Rev. 2014;15(3):246-255.
- 4. Dore M, Junco PT, Bret M, et al. Advantages of cardiac magnetic resonance imaging for severe pectus excavatum assessment in children. Eur J Pediatr Surg. 2017.
- 5. Marcovici PA, Losasso BE, Kruk P, Dwek JR. MRI for the evaluation of pectus excavatum. Pediatr Radiol. 2011;41(6):757-758. doi: 10.1007/s00247-011-2031-5.
- 6. Junco PT, Bret M, Cervantes MG, et al. Advantages of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging for Severe Pectus Excavatum Assessment in Children. Eur J Pediatr Surg. 2017;28(01):034-038. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1604427.
- 7. Sun J, Chen C, Peng Y, et al. Comparison of magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography to measure preoperative parameters of children with pectus excavatum. Pediatr Investig. 2019;3(2):102-109. Published 2019 Jun 25. doi:10.1002/ped4.12132.
- 8. Scalise PN, Demehri FR. The management of pectus excavatum in pediatric patients: a narrative review. Transl Pediatr. 2023;12(2):208-220. doi:10.21037/tp-22-361
- 9. Notrica DM, McMahon LE, Jaroszewski DE. Pectus Disorders: Excavatum, Carinatum and Arcuatum. Adv Pediatr. 2024;71(1):181-194. doi:10.1016/j.yapd.2024.05.001
- 10. Coorens NA, Janssen N, Daemen JHT, Franssen AJPM, Hulsewé KWE, Vissers YLJ, de Loos ER. Advancements in preoperative imaging of pectus excavatum: a comprehensive review. J Thorac Dis. 2024 Jan 30;16(1):696-707. doi: 10.21037/jtd-23-662. Epub 2024 Jan 24. PMID: 38410537; PMCID: PMC10894368.

V1.0.2026

Breast Masses (PEDCH-12)

\sim				
Gι	JIC	ıeı	ıın	е

Breast Masses (PEDCH-12.1)

V1.0.2026

Breast Masses (PEDCH-12.1)

CHP.MS.0012.1.A

v1.0.2026

See <u>Pediatric Breast Masses (PEDONC-17)</u> in the Pediatric Oncology Imaging Guidelines.

Vascular Malformations (PEDCH-13)

Guideline

Vascular Ring (PEDCH-13.1)
Other Vascular Malformations (PEDCH-13.2)
References (PEDCH-13)

Vascular Ring (PEDCH-13.1)

CHP.VM.0013.1.A

v1.0.2026

- Chest x-ray is the recommended initial study in individuals with respiratory symptoms.
 A chest x-ray is not medically necessary for individuals diagnosed with a vascular ring on prenatal imaging studies.
- Barium esophagram is the recommended initial study in individuals with feeding difficulties.
- CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260), CTA Chest (CPT[®] 71275), MRA Chest (CPT[®] 71555), or MRI Chest without contrast (CPT[®] 71550) in individuals with known or suspected vascular ring after prenatal imaging studies, chest x-ray, or barium esophagram.
- Echocardiogram is medically necessary to rule out associated congenital heart disease.
 - CPT[®] 93303, CPT[®] 93306, CPT[®] 93320, and CPT[®] 93325 are medically necessary for initial evaluation of individuals with vascular ring and no prior echocardiograms.

Background and Supporting Information

Vascular rings generally present with either respiratory symptoms (stridor, wheezing, tachypnea, cough) or feeding difficulties (dysphagia, slow feeding, hyperextension of the head while feeding, weight loss, failure to thrive), but can also be discovered incidentally on imaging obtained for other purposes.

V1.0.2026

Other Vascular Malformations (PEDCH-13.2)

CHP.VM.0013.2.A

v1.0.2026

See Pulmonary Arteriovenous Malformations (PEDCH-14.2) for Pulmonary AVMs.

See <u>Vascular Anomalies (PEDPVD-2)</u> in the Pediatric Peripheral Vascular Disease Imaging Guidelines.

References (PEDCH-13)

v1.0.2026

- 1. Licari A, Manca E, Rispoli GA, et al. Congenital vascular rings: a clinical challenge for the pediatrician. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2015;50 (5): 511-524.
- 2. Poletto E, Mallon MG, Stevens RM, et al. Imaging review of aortic vascular rings and pulmonary sling. J Am Osteopath Coll Radiol. 2017;6(2): 5-14.
- 3. Hanneman K, Newman B, Chan F. Congenital Variants and Anomalies of the Aortic Arch. RadioGraphics. 2017;37(1):32-51. doi: 10.1148/rg.2017160033.
- 4. Backer CL, Mongé MC, Popescu AR, Eltayeb OM, Rastatter JC, Rigsby CK. Vascular rings. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2016;25(3):165-175. doi: 10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2016.02.009.
- 5. Sommburg O, Helling-Bakki A, Alrajab A, et al. Assessment of Suspected Vascular Rings and Slings and/or Airway Pathologies Using Magnetic Resonance Imaging Rather Than Computed Tomography. Respiration. 2018;97(2):108-118. doi: 10.1159/000492080.
- 6. Worhunsky DJ, Levy BE, Stephens EH, Backer CL. Vascular rings. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2021;30(6):151128. doi:10.1016/j.sempedsurg.2021.151128
- 7. Pasternack DM, Ludomirsky A, Tan RB, Amirtharaj C. Variations in the Evaluation and Management of Vascular Rings: A Survey of American Clinicians. Pediatr Cardiol. 2024;45(5):959-966. doi:10.1007/s00246-024-03442-8
- 8. Madueme PC. Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging of vascular rings and other things: a pictorial review. Pediatr Radiol. 2022;52(10):1839-1848. doi:10.1007/s00247-022-05366-y
- 9. Bardo, D.M.E., Lindblade, C. (2022). Congenital Disease of the Aortic Arch. In: Otero, H.J., Kaplan, S.L., Medina, L.S., Blackmore, C.C., Applegate, K.E. (eds) Evidence-Based Imaging in Pediatrics. Evidence-Based Imaging. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38095-3 92-1

Congenital Chest Diseases (PEDCH-14)

Guideline

Congenital Cystic Lung Diseases (PEDCH-14.1)
Pulmonary Arteriovenous Malformations (PEDCH-14.2)
Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia (PEDCH-14.3)
Pulmonary Sequestration (PEDCH-14.4)
References (PEDCH-14)

Congenital Cystic Lung Diseases (PEDCH-14.1)

CHP.CD.0014.1.A

v1.0.2026

- This section includes common congenital cystic lung lesions such as:
 - bronchogenic cyst
 - congenital pulmonary airway malformation (congenital cystic adenomatoid malformation)
 - congenital lobar overinflation
- CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) is medically necessary when a cystic lung lesion is suspected.
- MRI Chest with and without contrast (CPT® 71552) is medically necessary if CT is inconclusive or if requested for pre-operative planning.

Background and Supporting Information

 Cystic lung disease may be first identified on prenatal ultrasound, or discovered incidentally on chest x-ray.

Pulmonary Arteriovenous Malformations (PEDCH-14.2)

CHP.CD.0014.2.A

v1.0.2026

- Pulmonary arteriovenous malformations (PAVMs) are vascular structures that most commonly result from abnormal communication between pulmonary arteries and pulmonary veins.
 - Chest x-ray is medically necessary as an initial imaging modality for individuals with known AVMs, or individuals presenting with hypoxemia and/or hemoptysis.
 - CTA or MRA is medically necessary in individuals with known AVM or abnormal chest x-ray suggesting AVM for treatment planning.

Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia (PEDCH-14.3)

CHP.CD.0014.3.A

v1.0.2026

- Congenital Diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is a defect in the diaphragm which may allow the abdominal organs to enter the chest cavity, and may lead to compromised pulmonary function or may be associated with congenital heart disease.
 - Over 90% of the hernias occur in the posterolateral diaphragm (Bochdalek hernia) typically on the left side.
 - Most of the rest of the hernias are in the anteromedial diaphragm (Morgagni hernia).
- The vast majority of CDH are diagnosed prenatally (see **Fetal MRI [PV-15.1]**) in the Pelvis Imaging Guidelines), or as an inpatient shortly after delivery.
- If there is clinical concern for CDH, chest x-ray and/or US Chest (CPT® 76604) is medically necessary as the initial imaging study.
- CT Chest with contrast (CPT[®] 71260) or MRI Chest with and without contrast (CPT[®] 71552) is medically necessary when Chest x-ray and/or US are inconclusive, or if requested for treatment planning.

Pulmonary Sequestration (PEDCH-14.4)

CHP.CD.0014.4.A

v1.0.2026

- Pulmonary sequestration imaging indications in pediatric individuals are similar to those for adult individuals.
 - See <u>Pleural-Based Nodules and Other Abnormalities (CH-17.1)</u> in the Chest Imaging Guidelines.
- Pediatric-specific imaging considerations include the following:
 - CTA Chest (CPT® 71275) is the gold standard for diagnosing pulmonary lung abnormalities.
 - CT Chest with contrast (CPT® 71260) and MRI Chest without contrast (CPT® 71550) are alternative imaging modalities that can be used for diagnosis.

Proprietary Information of United Healthcare. Copyright © 2026 United Healthcare Services, Inc.

References (PEDCH-14)

v1.0.2026

- Chowdhury MM, Chakraborty S. Imaging of congenital lung malformations. Semin Pediatr Surg. 2015;24(4):168-175.
- 2. Blatter JA, Finder JD. Chapter 444: Congenital Disorders of the Lung. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:2599-2603.
- 3. Liszewski MC, Lee EY. Neonatal Lung Disorders: Pattern Recognition Approach to Diagnosis. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2018;210(5):964-975. doi: 10.2214/ajr.17.19231.
- 4. Hanley M, Ahmed O, Chandra A, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria Clinically Suspected Pulmonary Arteriovenous Malformation. *J Am Coll Radiol*. 2016;13(7):796-800. do: 10.1016/j.jacr.2016.03.020.
- Hosman AE, Gussem EMD, Balemans WAF, et al. Screening children for pulmonary arteriovenous malformations: Evaluation of 18 years of experience. *Pediatr Pulmonol*. 2017;52(9):1206-1211. doi: 10.1002/ ppul.23704.
- 6. Restrepo R, Lee EY. Chapter 61: The Diaphragm. In: Coley B, Saunders E., eds. *Caffey's Pediatric Diagnostic Imaging*. Philadelphia PA. 2013:587-592.
- 7. Ahlfeld SK. Chapter 131: Diaphragmatic Hernia. In: Kliegman RM, St. Geme JW III, Blum NJ, Shah SS, Tasker RC, Wilson KM, eds. *Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics*. 22nd ed. 2024:1094-1096.
- 8. Karmazyn B, Shold AJ, Delaney LR, et al. Ultrasound evaluation of right diaphragmatic eventration and hernia. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2019;49(8):1010-1017. doi: 10.1007/s00247-019-04417-1.
- 9. Corsini I, Parri N, Coviello C, Leonardi V, Dani C. Lung ultrasound findings in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2019;178(4):491-495. doi: 10.1007/s00431-019-03321-y.
- Brown, B., Eklund, M., Mehollin-Ray, A. Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia. In: Otero, H.J., Kaplan, S.L., Medina, L.S., Blackmore, C.C., Applegate, K.E., eds. *Evidence-Based Imaging in Pediatrics. Evidence-Based Imaging*. Springer, Cham. Published online 2022 Nov;1-7. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-38095-3 45-1.
- 11. Hermelijn SM, Elders BBLJ, Ciet P, Wijnen RMH, Tiddens HAWM, Schnater JM. A clinical guideline for structured assessment of CT-imaging in congenital lung abnormalities. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* 2021;37:80-88. doi:10.1016/j.prrv.2019.12.004
- 12. Newman B. Magnetic resonance imaging for congenital lung malformations. *Pediatr Radiol.* 2022;52(2):312-322. doi:10.1007/s00247-021-05018-7
- 13. Fichera, G., Cavaliere, A., Causin, F. et al. Pediatric congenital pulmonary malformations: key findings at imaging. *Clin Transl Imaging* 12, 457–466 (2024). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40336-024-00632-5
- Cancemi G, Distefano G, Vitaliti G, et al. Congenital Lung Malformations: A Pictorial Review of Imaging Findings and a Practical Guide for Diagnosis. *Children (Basel)*. 2024;11(6):638. Published 2024 May 25. doi:10.3390/children11060638
- Lim AYL, Ratjen F. Pulmonary arteriovenous malformation in children. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* 2025;60 Suppl 1:S80-S81. doi:10.1002/ppul.27354
- 16. Koh WH, Ko PJ, Su YT, Tsai YC, Kek HP, Tsai CC. Unmasking a hidden culprit: late-presenting congenital diaphragmatic hernia beyond infancy: A case report and literature review. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2024;103(12):e37450. doi:10.1097/MD.0000000000037450
- 17. Pederiva F, Rothenberg SS, Hall N, et al. Congenital lung malformations. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. 2023;9(1):60. Published 2023 Nov 2. doi:10.1038/s41572-023-00470-1
- 18. Tivnan P, Winant AJ, Epelman M, Lee EY. Pediatric Congenital Lung Malformations: Imaging Guidelines and Recommendations. *Radiol Clin North Am.* 2022;60(1):41-54. doi:10.1016/j.rcl.2021.08.002
- 19. Hardee S, Tuzovic L, Silva CT, et al. Congenital cystic lung lesions: evolution from in-utero detection to pathology diagnosis-a multidisciplinary approach. *Pediatr Dev Pathol.* 2017;20:403-410.

Pediatric Chest Imaging Guidelines (For Ohio Only): CSRAD017OH.E

V1.0.2026

Policy History and Instructions for Use

\sim				
Gι	JIC	ıeı	ıın	е

Policy History and Instructions for Use

Policy History and Instructions for Use

Policy History and Instructions for Use

v1.0.2026

Instructions for Use

This Medical Policy provides assistance in interpreting United HealthCare Services, Inc. standard benefit plans. When deciding coverage, the federal, state (Ohio Administrative Code [OAC]) or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage must be referenced as the terms of the federal, state (OAC) or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage may differ from the standard benefit plan. In the event of a conflict, the federal, state (OAC) or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage govern.

Before using this policy, please check the federal, state (OAC) or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage. United HealthCare Services, Inc. reserves the right to modify its Policies and Guidelines as necessary. This Medical Policy is provided for informational purposes. It does not constitute medical advice.

United HealthCare Services, Inc. uses InterQual[®] for the primary medical/surgical criteria, and the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) for substance use, in administering health benefits. If InterQual[®] does not have applicable criteria, United HealthCare Services, Inc. may also use United HealthCare Services, Inc.'s Medical Policies, Coverage Determination Guidelines, and/or Utilization Review Guidelines that have been approved by the Ohio Department for Medicaid Services. The United HealthCare Services, Inc.'s Medical Policies, Coverage Determination Guidelines, and Utilization Review Guidelines are intended to be used in connection with the independent professional medical judgment of a qualified health care provider and do not constitute the practice of medicine or medical advice.

Policy History/Revision Information

Date	Summary of Changes
02/01/2024	Annual evidence-based updates
07/01/2024	Interim evidence-based updates
05/01/2025	Annual evidence-based updates
11/06/2025	Annual evidence-based updates